NORMALIZED SOLUTIONS TO THE MIXED DISPERSION NONLINEAR SCHRÖDINGER EQUATION IN THE MASS CRITICAL AND SUPERCRITICAL REGIME

DENIS BONHEURE, JEAN-BAPTISTE CASTERAS, TIANXIANG GOU, AND LOUIS JEANJEAN

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we study the existence of solutions to the mixed dispersion nonlinear Schrödinger equation

$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u + \alpha u = |u|^{2\sigma} u, \quad u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N),$$

under the constraint

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 \, dx = c > 0.$$

We assume $\gamma > 0, N \ge 1, 4 \le \sigma N < \frac{4N}{(N-4)^+}$, whereas the parameter $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ will appear as a Lagrange multiplier. Given $c \in \mathbb{R}^+$, we consider several questions including the existence of ground states, of positive solutions and the multiplicity of radial solutions. We also discuss the stability of the standing waves of the associated dispersive equation.

Contents

1.	Introduction.	1
2.	Preliminary results and Proof of Theorem 1.2.	6
3.	Some Properties of the constraint $\mathcal{M}(c)$	9
4.	Existence of ground states, proof of Theorem 1.3	14
5.	Some properties of the function $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$	15
6.	Radial solutions, proof of Proposition 1.6 and of Theorems 1.4 and 1.5	20
7.	A concentration phenomenon, proof of Theorem 1.7	24
8.	Positive and sign-changing solutions, proof of Theorems 1.8 and 1.9	26
9.	The Dispersive equation, proof of Theorems 1.10 and 1.12	27
10.	Appendix	30
References		34

1. INTRODUCTION.

In this paper we consider the biharmonic NLS (Nonlinear Schrödinger Equation) with mixed dispersion

(1.1)
$$i\partial_t \psi - \gamma \Delta^2 \psi + \Delta \psi + |\psi|^{2\sigma} \psi = 0, \ \psi(0, x) = \psi_0(x), \ (t, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where we always assume that $\gamma > 0$ and $0 < N\sigma < 4^*$. Here

$$4^* := \frac{4N}{(N-4)^+}$$
, namely $4^* = \infty$ if $N \le 4$, and $4^* = \frac{4N}{N-4}$ if $N \ge 5$.

For $1 \leq q < \infty$, we denote by $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ the usual Lebesgue space with norm $||u||_q^q := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^q dx$.

Let us recall some basic facts on (1.1) illustrating the effect of $\gamma > 0$. First, it is well-known that NLS i.e. (1.1) with $\gamma = 0$, is locally well-posed in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ provided that $\sigma N < 2^* = \frac{2N}{N-2}$ (see [27, Theorem 4.3.4]). The counter-part of this result for (1.1) with $\gamma > 0$ has been obtained by Pausader [44, Proposition 4.1] namely he proved that (1.1) is locally well-posed in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for $\sigma N < 4^*$. Concerning the global well-posedness, it is well-known that it holds in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for NLS when $N\sigma < 2/N$ (see

D. Bonheure & J.B. Casteras are supported by MIS F.4508.14 (FNRS), PDR T.1110.14F (FNRS); J.B. Casteras is supported by the Belgian Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique – FNRS; D. Bonheure is partially supported by the project ERC Advanced Grant 2013 n. 339958: "Complex Patterns for Strongly Interacting Dynamical Systems - COMPAT" and by ARC AUWB-2012-12/17-ULB1- IAPAS, This work has been carried out in the framework of the project NONLOCAL (ANR-14-CE25-0013), funded by the French National Research Agency (ANR).

[27, Corollary 6.1.2]) and in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for (1.1) when $N\sigma < 4/N$ (see [44, Theorem 1.1] for radially symmetric initial data but this assumption can be released as claimed in [24]). Moreover, in this regime i.e. $N\sigma < 2/N$, ground state solution for NLS are orbitally stable (see [27, Theorem 8.3.1]). On the contrary, it is well known that, when $\sigma N \ge 2$, NLS can become singular at finite time, see for instance [27, Theorem 6.5.10]. Karpman and Shagalov [36], see also [35], were apparently the first to study the regularization and stabilization effect of a small fourth-order dispersion. Using a combination of stability analysis and numerical simulations, they showed that standing wave solutions are orbitally stable for any $\gamma > 0$, when $0 < \sigma N \le 2$, and when $2 < \sigma N < 4$ for $\gamma > 0$ small enough. When $\sigma N > 4$ they observed an instability phenomenon. Thus $\sigma N = 4$ appears as a new critical exponent and adding a small fourth-order dispersion term clearly helps to stabilize the standing waves.

In nonlinear optics, NLS is usually derived from NLH (nonlinear Helmhotz equation) for the electric field by separating the fast oscillations from the slowly varying amplitude. In the so-called paraxial approximation, NLS appears in the limit as the equation solved by the dimensionless electric-field amplitude, see e.g. [30, Section 2]. The fact that its solutions may blow up in finite time suggests that some small terms neglected in the paraxial approximation play an important role to prevent this phenomenon. Therefore a small fourth-order dispersion term was proposed in [30], see also [10, 11, 12], as a nonparaxial correction, which eventually gives rise to (1.1). In particular applying some arguments developed in [50], the authors [30] proved that all solutions to (1.1) exist globally in time for $\sigma N < 4$. We mention that the necessary Strichartz estimates have been previously obtained by Ben-Artzi et al [16].

Nevertheless, despite its physical relevance, the dispersion equation (1.1) is far from being well understood. There are only few papers dealing with (1.1) besides the ones already mentioned [19, 21, 24, 35, 40, 44, 45, 46].

In this paper we are interested in standing waves solutions, that is solutions of the form $\psi(t, x) = e^{i\alpha t}u(x)$, $\alpha > 0$. The function u then satisfies the elliptic equation

(1.2)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u + \alpha u = |u|^{2\sigma} u, \quad u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

A possible choice is to consider that $\alpha > 0$ is given and to look for solutions $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of (1.2). Such solutions correspond to critical points of the functional

$$I(u) := \frac{\gamma}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx + \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 \, dx - \frac{1}{2\sigma + 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx,$$

and of particular interest are the so-called least energy solutions. Namely solutions which minimize ${\cal I}$ on the set

 $\mathcal{N} := \{ u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \backslash \{0\} : I'(u) = 0 \}.$

This point of view is adopted in the paper [23], see also [21].

Alternatively one can consider the existence of solutions to (1.2) having a prescribed L^2 -norm. Since solutions $\psi \in C([0,T); H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ to (1.1) conserve their mass along time, i.e. $\|\psi(t)\|_2 = \|\psi(0)\|_2$ for $t \in [0,T)$, it is natural, from a physical point view, to search for such solutions.

Here we focus on this issue. For c > 0 given, we consider the problem of finding solutions to

$$(P_c) \qquad \qquad \gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u + \alpha u = |u|^{2\sigma} u \quad \text{with} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 dx = c$$

It is standard to show that a critical point of the energy functional,

(1.3)
$$E(u) := \frac{\gamma}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx - \frac{1}{2\sigma + 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx.$$

restricted to

$$S(c) := \{ u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 \, dx = c \}$$

corresponds to a solution of (P_c) . The value of $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ in (P_c) is then an unknown of the problem and it corresponds to the associated Lagrange parameter.

In [21], the authors study, for c > 0 given, the minimizing problem

$$m(c) := \inf_{\substack{u \in S(c)\\ 2}} E(u).$$

When $0 < \sigma N < 4$, the functional E is bounded from below on S(c) for any c > 0, which makes possible to search for a critical point of E restricted to S(c) as a global minimizer. In that direction the following result was obtained in [21].

Theorem 1.1. Assume that $0 < \sigma N < 2$, then m(c) is achieved for every c > 0. If $2 \le \sigma N < 4$ then there exists a critical mass $\tilde{c} = \tilde{c}(\sigma, N)$ such that

- (i) m(c) is not achieved if $c < \tilde{c}$;
- (ii) m(c) is achieved if $c > \tilde{c}$ and $\sigma = 2/N$;
- (iii) m(c) is achieved if $c \geq \tilde{c}$ and $\sigma \neq 2/N$.

Moreover if σ is an integer and m(c) is achieved, then there exists at least one radially symmetric minimizer.

We note the appearance of a critical mass when $2 \leq \sigma N < 4$. It is linked to the fact that each three terms of *E* behaves differently with respect to dilations. Such a phenomenon was first observed in [28], see also [26, 34] for related results.

In this paper we focus on the mass-critical case $\sigma N = 4$ and on the mass-supercritical case $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$. Our first result concerns the case $\sigma N = 4$. A key role is played by the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (see e.g. [41, Theorem in Lecture II])

(1.4)
$$\|u\|_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2} \le B_N(\sigma) \|\Delta u\|_2^{\frac{\sigma_N}{2}} \|u\|_2^{2+2\sigma-\frac{\sigma_N}{2}}$$

where

$$\begin{cases} 0 \le \sigma, & \text{if } N \le 4, \\ 0 \le \sigma < \frac{4}{N-4}, & \text{if } N \ge 5, \end{cases}$$

and $B_N(\sigma)$ is a constant depending on σ and N.

Theorem 1.2. Let $N \ge 1, \sigma N = 4$. There exists a $c_N^* > 0$ such that

$$m(c) := \inf_{u \in S(c)} E(u) = \begin{cases} 0, & 0 < c \le c_N^*, \\ -\infty, & c > c_N^*. \end{cases}$$

For $c \in (0, c_N^*]$, (P_c) has no nontrivial solution and in particular m(c) is not achieved. In addition, we have $c_N^* = (\gamma C(N))^{\frac{N}{4}}$ where

(1.5)
$$C(N) := \frac{N+4}{NB_N(\frac{4}{N})},$$

and $B_N(\sigma)$ is the smallest constant satisfying (1.4).

Theorem 1.2 shows that m(c) becomes infinite for c > 0 large. Actually when $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$ it is also the case for any c > 0. To see this, for any $u \in S(c)$, $\lambda > 0$, we define

(1.6)
$$u_{\lambda}(x) := \lambda^{\frac{N}{4}} u(\sqrt{\lambda}x).$$

This definition is clearly motivated by the fact that $||u_{\lambda}||_2 = ||u||_2$. One then computes

(1.7)
$$E(u_{\lambda}) = \frac{\gamma \lambda^2}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx - \frac{\lambda^{\sigma N/2}}{2\sigma + 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx$$

Obviously $E(u_{\lambda}) \to -\infty$ as $\lambda \to \infty$, and therefore $m(c) = -\infty$. In particular it is no more possible to obtain a critical point of E restricted to S(c) as a global minimizer. To overcome this difficulty, we exploit the property that E restricted to S(c) possesses a natural constraint, namely a set, that contains all the critical points of E restricted to S(c). This set is given by

$$\mathcal{M}(c) := \{ u \in S(c) : Q(u) = 0 \}$$

where

$$Q(u) := \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx - \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx.$$

Using (1.7), we see that

(1.8)
$$Q(u) = \frac{\partial E(u_{\lambda})}{\partial \lambda}|_{\lambda=1}$$

and thus, at least heuristically, the set $\mathcal{M}(c)$ contains all the critical points. Actually the condition Q(u) = 0 corresponds to a Derrick-Pohozaev identity. As we shall see, the functional $E|_{\mathcal{M}(c)}$ has much better properties than $E|_{S(c)}$. In particular, it is coercive, see Lemma 3.2.

For convenience, we define $c_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ as $c_0 = 0$ if $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$ and $c_0 = c_N^*$ if $\sigma N = 4$. In Lemma 3.1, we shall prove that $\mathcal{M}(c) \neq \emptyset$, for any $c > c_0$. It is then possible to define, for any fixed $c > c_0$

$$\Gamma(c) := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}(c)} E(u).$$

Our next result concerns the existence of a minimizer associated to $\Gamma(c)$. Note that, when a minimizer exists, it is a ground state solution in the sense that it minimizes the functional E, among all solutions having this L^2 -norm.

Theorem 1.3. Let $N \ge 1$ and $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$. There exists $c_{N,\sigma} > c_0$ such that for any $c \in (c_0, c_{N,\sigma})$, (P_c) has a ground state solution u_c , satisfying $E(u_c) = \Gamma(c)$, and the associated Lagrange parameter α_c is strictly positive. Moreover

- (i) if N = 1, 2 and $\sigma \ge 4/N$, then $c_{N,\sigma} = \infty$;
- (ii) if $4/3 \le \sigma \le 2$, then $c_{3,\sigma} = \infty$;

(iii) if $\sigma N = 4$, then $c_{4,1} = \infty$ and $c_{N,\sigma} \ge \left(\frac{N}{N-4}\right)^{\frac{N}{4}} c_N^*$ for $N \ge 5$.

The proof of Theorem 1.3 crucially relies on the observation, strongly based on arguments due to Bartsch and Soave [9], that there exists a Palais-Smale sequence, for E restricted to S(c) at the level $\Gamma(c)$, which consists of elements of $\mathcal{M}(c)$.

Let $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ be a Palais-Smale sequence for E restricted to S(c). Since E is coercive on $\mathcal{M}(c)$, see Lemma 3.2, we infer that $(u_n)_n$ is bounded and it follows that, up to a subsequence and up to translations, $u_n \rightharpoonup u_c$ weakly in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for some u_c satisfying

(1.9)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u_c - \Delta u_c + \alpha_c u_c = |u_c|^{2\sigma} u_c.$$

We show in Lemma 3.10 that the strong convergence in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ occurs as soon as $(u_n)_n$ strongly converges in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\alpha_c > 0$ in (1.9).

In the frame of Theorem 1.3, since we work with a Palais-Smale sequence at the level $\Gamma(c)$, we can make use of the observation that $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is nonincreasing on (c_0, ∞) to prove that $u_n \to u_c$ in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, see Lemma 4.1. The restrictions on the couple (N, σ) arise to insure that $\alpha_c > 0$, see Lemma 2.1. Note that the strong convergence of $(u_n)_n$ to u_c in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ implies that u_c belongs to $\mathcal{M}(c)$ and that it satisfies $E(u_c) = \Gamma(c)$. In particular $\Gamma(c)$ is then achieved.

Finding constrained critical points when the functional is unbounded from below on the constraint is a question that remained for long only considered in the sole paper [33]. This question however has recently received more attention and in particular in the frame of various scalar problems [1, 4, 14, 15] as well as for systems [5, 6, 7, 9]. The present work benefits in particular from techniques introduced in [9, 15]. The common feature of these papers is that the underlying problems are autonomous and set on the whole space \mathbb{R}^N . This transfers to the functional a regular behaviour with respect to dilations that are essential in our proofs. In related works [42, 43, 47] where the underlying equations, or systems, are set on a bounded domain and are not necessarily autonomous, the questions tackled and the techniques used are quite different.

In our next result, taking advantage of the genus theory, we prove the existence of infinitely many radial solutions to (P_c) .

Theorem 1.4. Assume that $N \ge 2$.

- (i) If $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, then for any $c \in (0, c_{N,\sigma})$, where $c_{N,\sigma}$ is defined in Theorem 1.3, (P_c) possesses infinitely many radial solutions.
- (ii) If $\sigma N = 4$ and $2 \leq N \leq 4$, then for any $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$ there exists a $c(k) > c_N^*$ such that, for any $c \geq c(k)$, (P_c) possesses at least k radial solutions.

To establish Theorem 1.4 we work in the subspace $H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of radially symmetric functions in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Accordingly we define $\mathcal{M}_{rad}(c) := \mathcal{M}(c) \cap H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. The proof of Theorem 1.4 is based on the use of the Kranosel'skii genus and again on arguments from [9], which guarantee, at appropriate minimax levels, the existence of a Palais-Smale sequence, for E restricted to S(c), consisting of elements of $\mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$. To show the convergence of these Palais-Smale sequences we proceed as for the proof of Theorem 1.3. The required compactness comes here from the compact embedding of $H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ into

 $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ whereas the positivity of the associated α_c in the limit equation (1.9) comes again from Lemma 2.1. Another step in the proof of Theorem 1.4 is to show that the set $\mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$ is sufficiently large. This is always the case when $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$ for any c > 0. However when $\sigma N = 4$ the set $\mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$ may be too small. In particular it shrinks to the empty set as $c \to c_N^*$. To obtain a given number of critical points we require that $c > c_N^*$ is sufficiently large.

In dimensions 3 and 4, and for radial ground state, we can relax the range assumption on c of Theorem 1.4. By a radial ground state, we mean a radial function which minimizes E on the set $\mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$.

Theorem 1.5. Let N = 3 or N = 4 and assume that $4 \le \sigma N < \infty$. Then, for any $c > c_0$, there exists a radial ground state solution to (P_c) .

The main additional ingredient in the proof is a sharp decay estimate of radial solutions u to

(1.10)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u = |u|^{2\sigma} u,$$

when N = 3 and $\sigma > 2$ or N = 4 and $\sigma > 1$. We believe this result has its own interest.

Proposition 1.6. Let N = 3 and $2 < \sigma < \infty$ or N = 4 and $1 < \sigma < \infty$. Assume that $u \in X$ is a nontrivial radial solution to

(1.11)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u = |u|^{2\sigma} u, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^N$$

Then there exists $C \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ such that

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^{2-N}} = C.$$

The function space X, defined by (5.10), is the natural energy space associated to (1.10). The proof of this proposition is based on a representation formula and a maximum principle for cooperative systems. Observe that as a direct corollary, there is no solution to (1.10) with finite mass in dimensions 3 and 4. As it will appear later, this fact indirectly implies that the Lagrange multiplier α_c has to be strictly positive, see Corollary 6.6.

Next we enlighten a concentration behaviour of the ground state solutions to (P_c) when $\sigma N = 4$ and $c \to c_N^*$. We remind that the existence of such ground states is guaranteed by Theorem 1.3.

Theorem 1.7. Let $N \ge 1, \sigma N = 4$, and $(c_n)_n \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a sequence satisfying, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $c_n > c_N^*$ with $c_n \to c_N^*$ as $n \to \infty$, and u_n be a ground state solution to (P_c) for $c = c_n$ at level $\Gamma(c_n)$. Then there exist a sequence $(y_n)_n \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ and a least energy solution u to the equation

$$\gamma \Delta^2 u + u = |u|^{\frac{8}{N}} u,$$

such that up to a subsequence,

$$\left(\frac{\varepsilon_n^4 c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{N}{8}} u_n \left(\left(\frac{\varepsilon_n^4 c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} x + \varepsilon_n y_n \right) \to u \text{ in } L^q(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ as } n \to \infty$$

for $2 \leq q < 4^*$, where $\varepsilon_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem 1.7 gives a description of ground state solutions to (P_c) as the mass c_n approaches to c_N^* from above. Roughly speaking, it shows that for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough, we have

$$u_n(x) \approx \left(\frac{4}{\varepsilon_n^4 c_N^* N}\right)^{\frac{N}{8}} u\left(\left(\frac{4}{\varepsilon_n^4 c_N^* N}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} (x - \varepsilon_n y_n)\right).$$

In the case where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ is given in (1.2), many additional properties are known on the least energy solutions. In particular it is known that when $\alpha > 0$ is sufficiently small, all least energy solutions have a sign and are radial, see [21, Theorem 3.9]. On the contrary when $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ is large, radial solutions are necessarily sign changing and, when $\sigma \in \mathbb{N}$, at least one least energy solution is radial, see [21, Theorem 3.7, Corollary 3.8]. When looking to solutions with a prescribed mass, it is more delicate to deduce informations on the sign and symmetry of ground states. In that direction we only present the following result.

Theorem 1.8. Let $N \ge 2$, $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$ and $\sigma \in \mathbb{N}$. There exists a $c_{\pm} > c_0$ such that, for any $c \in (c_0, c_{\pm})$, (P_c) admits a ground state which is radial and sign changing.

Positive radial solutions to (P_c) do exist as well. However we are not able to prove that those are ground states.

Theorem 1.9. Let $1 \le N \le 4$ and $4 \le \sigma N < \infty$. For sufficiently large c > 0, (P_c) admits a positive and radial solution.

In the last part of the paper we investigate the dynamical behaviour of the solutions to equation (1.1). The local well-posedness of the Cauchy problem is shown in [44] for $0 < \sigma N < 4^*$. In the mass subcritical case $0 < \sigma N < 4$, the global existence for the Cauchy problem holds, see [30, 44] and it is conjectured that ground state solutions are orbitally stable. This is proved in [21] (see also [40]) under additional assumptions among which the fact that they are non degenerate, see [21] for a precise statement. We can show that, despite we are in the mass critical or mass supercritical cases, solutions to (1.1) with initial data lying in some part of the space exist globally in time. We fix the notation

$$\mathcal{O}_c := \{ u \in S(c) : E(u) < \Gamma(c), \text{ and } Q(u) > 0 \}.$$

Theorem 1.10. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$. For any $c > c_0$, if the initial datum $\psi_0 \in \mathcal{O}_c$, then the solution $\psi \in C([0,T); H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ to (1.1) exists globally in time.

We also prove that the radial ground states are unstable by blow-up.

Definition 1.11. We say that a solution $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ to (1.2) is unstable by blow-up in finite (respectively infinite) time if, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $v \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $||v - u||_{H^2} < \varepsilon$ and the solution $\phi(t)$ to (1.1) with initial data $\phi(0) = v$ blows up in finite (respectively infinite) time in the H^2 norm.

Theorem 1.12. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ and $N \geq 2$. Then the standing waves associated to radial ground states are unstable by blow-up in finite or infinite time. Moreover, if $\sigma \leq 4$, then they are unstable by blow-up in finite time.

In the case where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ is fixed in (1.2) the fact that least energy solutions are unstable by blow-up in finite time was recently established for $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ in [19]. It should be noted that the results of [19] and of this paper are strongly based on arguments due to Boulenger and Lenzmann [24].

We now describe the organization of the paper. In Section 2 we present some preliminary results and give the proof of Theorem 1.2. In Section 3, we establish some properties of the manifold $\mathcal{M}(c)$, and, in particular, we show that it is possible to find a Palais-Smale sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ for E restricted to $\mathcal{S}(c)$, at level $\Gamma(c)$, see Lemma 3.9. In Section 4 we give the proof of Theorem 1.3. Section 5 is devoted to properties of the map $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ which are summarized in Theorem 5.13. In Section 6, we deal with radial solutions and establish Theorem 1.4 and Theorem 1.5. In Section 7 we prove the concentration result, namely Theorem 1.7. Section 8 contains the proofs of Theorem 1.8 and Theorem 1.9. In Section 9, we deal with the stability issues and prove Theorem 1.10 and Theorem 1.12. Finally in the Appendix we show that any solution $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ to (1.2) satisfies the Derrick-Pohozaev identity Q(u) = 0 and that all solutions of the limit problem (5.9) belong to $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ when $N \geq 5$.

Notation. The Sobolev space $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is endowed with its standard norm

$$||u||^2 := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2 \, dx.$$

We use the notation $H^{-2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for the dual space to $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. We denote by ' \rightarrow ', respectively by ' \rightharpoonup ', the strong convergence, respectively the weak convergence in corresponding space, and denote by $B_R(x)$ the ball in \mathbb{R}^N of center x and radius R > 0. Throughout the paper we assume that $N \geq 1$ unless stated the contrary. We use the notation $o_n(1)$ for any quantity which tends to zero as $n \to \infty$.

2. PRELIMINARY RESULTS AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.

By interpolation and using the Sobolev inequalities, we infer that there exists $C_N(\sigma) > 0$ such that for every $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, (see e.g. [41, Theorem in Lecture II]),

(2.1)
$$\|u\|_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2} \le C_N(\sigma) \|\nabla u\|_2^{\sigma N} \|u\|_2^{2+\sigma(2-N)},$$

where

$$\begin{cases} 0 \le \sigma, & \text{if } N \le 2, \\ 0 \le \sigma < \frac{2}{N-2}, & \text{if } N \ge 3, \end{cases}$$

and (see for instance [21, Lemma 2.1]),

(2.2)
$$\|u\|_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2} \le C_N(\sigma) \|\nabla u\|_2^{N-(\sigma+1)(N-4)} \|\Delta u\|_2^{(N-2)(\sigma+1)-N},$$

where

$$\begin{cases} \quad \frac{2}{N-2} \leq \sigma, \quad \text{if } N = 3, 4, \\ \quad \frac{2}{N-2} \leq \sigma < \frac{4}{N-4}, \quad \text{if } N \geq 5. \end{cases}$$

We shall also often make use of the following interpolation inequality

(2.3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \text{ for every } u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

Finally, for future reference, note that when $\sigma N = 4$, one has

(2.4) $\frac{N}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} dx \le \left(\frac{c}{c_N^*}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 dx \quad \text{for every} \quad u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N).$

Indeed, (2.4) follows from the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (1.4) using the fact that $c_N^* = (\gamma C(N))^{\frac{N}{2}}$ where C(N) is given in (1.5),

Lemma 2.1. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$. Assume $u_c \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ solves

(2.5)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u + \alpha_c u = |u|^{2\sigma} u$$

with $||u_c||_2^2 = c > 0$. Then there exists $c_{N,\sigma} > 0$ such that $\alpha_c > 0$ for any $c \in (0, c_{N,\sigma})$. Moreover,

(i)
$$c_{1,\sigma} = c_{2,\sigma} = \infty$$
 for every $\sigma \ge 4/N$, $c_{3,\sigma} = \infty$ if $4/3 \le \sigma \le 2$ and $c_{4,1} = \infty$;
(ii) If $\sigma N = 4$ then $c_{N,\sigma} \ge \left(\frac{N}{2}\right)^{\frac{N}{4}} c_{N,\sigma}^*$ for $N \ge 5$

(ii) If
$$\sigma N = 4$$
 then $c_{N,\sigma} \ge \left(\frac{N}{N-4}\right)^{-1} c_N^*$ for $N \ge 5$.

Proof. We infer from Lemma 10.1 in the Appendix that $Q(u_c) = 0$. Therefore, we have

(2.6)
$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c|^2 \, dx = \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_c|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx$$

Also multiplying (2.5) by u_c and integrating we get

(2.7)
$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c|^2 \, dx + \alpha_c \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_c|^2 \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_c|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx$$

Combining (2.6) and (2.7) gives

(2.8)
$$c\alpha_c = \gamma \left(\frac{4\sigma+4}{\sigma N} - 1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx + \left(\frac{2\sigma+2}{\sigma N} - 1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c|^2 \, dx$$

This obviously implies that $\alpha_c > 0$ for any c > 0 provided that either N = 1, 2 or N = 3 with $\sigma \le 2$ or N = 4 with $\sigma = 1$.

For the remaining cases, using the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (1.4), we get from (2.6) that

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx \le \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} B_N(\sigma) c^{1+\sigma(1-\frac{N}{4})} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{\sigma N}{4}},$$

which implies

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx\right)^{1-\frac{\sigma N}{4}} \le \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \frac{B_N(\sigma)}{\gamma} c^{1+\sigma(1-\frac{N}{4})}.$$

Thus, when $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, one deduces that

(2.9)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx \to \infty \text{ as } c \to 0.$$

On the other hand, using (2.3), we get from (2.8) that

$$c\,\alpha_c \ge \gamma \left(\frac{4\sigma+4}{\sigma N}-1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx + \left(\frac{2\sigma+2}{\sigma N}-1\right) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} c^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

and taking (2.9) into account, it follows that $\alpha_c > 0$ provided that c > 0 is small enough. It remains to treat the case $\sigma N = 4$ with $N \ge 5$. Since (2.6) and (2.7) yield

$$c\,\alpha_c = \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \,dx - \frac{N-4}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_c|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \,dx,$$

we deduce, from (2.4), that

$$c \,\alpha_c \ge \left(1 - \frac{N-4}{N} \left(\frac{c}{c_N^*}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}}\right) \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx.$$

$$< \left(\frac{N}{N-4}\right)^{\frac{N}{4}} c_N^*.$$

(... I)

This shows $\alpha_c > 0$ for c

We now show that the two quadratic terms in the energy functional behave somehow in a similar manner. This observation is later used only to treat the case $\sigma N = 4$ but we state it here under more general assumptions.

Lemma 2.2. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ Assume that $(u_n)_n \subset S(c_n)$ is a sequence such that $(c_n)_n \subset \mathbb{R}$ is positive and bounded and $(E(u_n))_n \subset \mathbb{R}$ is bounded. Then

(2.10)
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 dx\right)_n \subset \mathbb{R}$$
 is bounded if and only if $\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 dx\right)_n \subset \mathbb{R}$ is bounded.

If, in addition, $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c_n)$, then,

(i) if $4 \leq \sigma N$ and N = 1, 2 or $4 \leq \sigma N < \frac{2N}{N-2}$ and N = 3, we have

(2.11)
$$\frac{1}{c_n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \right)^2 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx \le \frac{\sigma N C_N(\sigma)}{2\gamma(2\sigma+2)} c_n^{\frac{2-\sigma(N-2)}{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{\sigma N}{2}};$$

(ii) if $\frac{2N}{N-2} \leq \sigma N$ and N = 3, 4 or $\sigma N < \frac{4N}{N-2}$ and $N \geq 5$, we have

$$(2.12) \quad \frac{1}{c_n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \right)^2 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx \le \left(\frac{\sigma N C_N(\sigma)}{2\gamma(2\sigma+2)} \right)^{\frac{2}{4-\sigma(N-2)}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{4-\sigma(N-4)}{4-\sigma(N-2)}}$$

Proof. The left inequalities in (2.11) and (2.12) just come from the interpolation inequality (2.3). Together with the boundedness of the sequence $(c_n)_n$, they imply the reverse implication in (2.10).

We now focus on the direct implication in (2.10). Using the definition of E and since $(E(u_n))_n$ is bounded, we infer that

$$\frac{\gamma}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \le \frac{1}{2\sigma + 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx + \sup_n |E(u_n)|.$$

When N = 1, 2 and $4 \le \sigma N$ or $4 \le \sigma N < \frac{2N}{N-2}$ and N = 3, the claim immediately follows from (2.1). If N = 3, 4 with $\frac{2N}{N-2} \le \sigma N$ or $N \ge 5$ with $\frac{2N}{N-2} \le \sigma N < \frac{4N}{N-2}$, we use instead (2.2) to deduce the estimate

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta u_{n}|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla u_{n}|^{2} dx \leq \frac{C_{N}(\sigma)}{\sigma + 1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla u_{n}|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{N}{2} - \frac{\sigma + 1}{2}(N - 4)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta u_{n}|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{N - 2}{2}(\sigma + 1) - \frac{N}{2}} + \sup_{n} |E(u_{n})|.$$

The claim follows since $\frac{N-2}{2}(\sigma+1) - \frac{N}{2} < 1$.

If, in addition, $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c_n)$, then

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx = \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx$$

When N = 1, 2 and $4 \le \sigma N$ or $4 \le \sigma N < \frac{2N}{N-2}$, we deduce from (2.1) that

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \le \frac{\sigma N C_N(\sigma)}{2(2\sigma+2)} c_n^{\frac{2-\sigma(N-2)}{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{\sigma}{2}}$$

so that the assertion (i) is proved. If $\frac{2N}{N-2} \leq \sigma N$ and N = 3, 4 or $\frac{2N}{N-2} \leq \sigma N < \frac{4N}{N-2}$ and $N \geq 5$, we use (2.2) to deduce

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \leq \frac{\sigma N C_N(\sigma)}{2(2\sigma+2)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{N-(\sigma+1)(N-4)}{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{(N-2)(\sigma+1)-N}{2}}$$
which leads to assertion (ii).

Remark 2.3. We emphasize that when $\sigma N = 4$, and whatever $N \ge 1$, we deduce from the preceding lemma that for every c > 0, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{c} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \right)^2 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx \le C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \right)^2,$$

for every $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$.

We end this section by proving the non existence result stated in Theorem 1.2.

Proof of Theorem 1.2. Observe first that $m(c) \leq 0$ for any c > 0. Indeed, it follows from (1.6)-(1.7) that, for any $u \in S(c)$, $E(u_{\lambda}) \to 0$ as $\lambda \to 0^+$. Now, using (2.4), we have for any $u \in S(c)$,

$$E(u) \ge \frac{\gamma}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx - \frac{N}{2N+8} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx$$
$$\ge \frac{\gamma}{2} \left(1 - \left(\frac{c}{c_N^*}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx.$$

Therefore, we deduce that $m(c) \ge 0$, whence m(c) = 0, for $c \le c_N^* := (\gamma C(N))^{\frac{N}{4}}$.

Next we prove that there is no solution to (P_c) when $c \leq c_N^*$. Indeed if u is solution to (P_c) , then Q(u) = 0 and applying (2.4), we get

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx = \frac{N}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx \le \left(\frac{c}{c_N^*}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx,$$

which implies that u = 0 because $c \le c_N^*$.

Finally let us prove that $m(c) = -\infty$ for $c > c_N^*$. It follows from [24], see also [13], that the best constant $B_N(\frac{4}{N})$ in (1.4) is achieved, i.e. there exists a $U \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfying

(2.13)
$$\|U\|_{2+\frac{8}{N}}^{2+\frac{8}{N}} = B_N(\frac{4}{N})\|U\|_2^{\frac{8}{N}}\|\Delta U\|_2^2$$

Choosing

(2.14)
$$w := c^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{U}{\|U\|_2} \in S(c),$$

and taking the identity (2.13) into account, we get

$$E(w_{\lambda}) = \frac{c}{2\|U\|_{2}^{2}} \lambda^{2} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta U|^{2} dx + \frac{c}{2\|U\|_{2}^{2}} \lambda \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla U|^{2} dx$$

$$(2.15) \qquad -\frac{N}{2N+8} \left(\frac{c^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\|U\|_{2}}\right)^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \lambda^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |U|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} dx$$

$$= \frac{c}{2\|U\|_{2}^{2}} \gamma \left(1 - \left(\frac{c}{c_{N}^{*}}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}}\right) \lambda^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta U|^{2} dx + \frac{c}{2\|U\|_{2}^{2}} \lambda \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla U|^{2} dx.$$

$$(2.15) = \frac{c}{2\|U\|_{2}^{2}} \left(1 - \left(\frac{c}{c_{N}^{*}}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}}\right) \lambda^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta U|^{2} dx + \frac{c}{2\|U\|_{2}^{2}} \lambda \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla U|^{2} dx.$$

This clearly implies $E(w_{\lambda}) \to -\infty$ as $\lambda \to \infty$ for $c > c_N^*$.

3. Some Properties of the constraint $\mathcal{M}(c)$

In this section, we work out some important properties of the manifold $\mathcal{M}(c)$ and of the energy functional E constrained to $\mathcal{M}(c)$. Since Q(u) = 0 for any $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$, we can write

(3.1)
$$E(u) = E(u) - \frac{2}{\sigma N}Q(u) = \gamma \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx.$$

We shall repeatedly use this relation in the sequel.

Lemma 3.1. Assume that $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$. If $c > c_0$ then $\mathcal{M}(c) \neq \emptyset$.

Proof. If $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, the property that $\mathcal{M}(c) \neq \emptyset$ for any c > 0 follows from the observation that, in (1.7), $E(u_{\lambda})$ is increasing for $\lambda > 0$ small and goes to $-\infty$ as $\lambda \to +\infty$. This implies indeed that the function $\lambda \mapsto E(u_{\lambda})$ has a least a local maximum, corresponding thus to an element of $\mathcal{M}(c)$, see (1.8). If $4 = \sigma N$, we also observe in (2.15) that, for $c > c_N^*$ fixed, the function $\lambda \mapsto E(w_{\lambda})$ is increasing for $\lambda > 0$ small and goes to $-\infty$ as $\lambda \to +\infty$. We then conclude as in the previous case.

We say that E restricted to $\mathcal{M}(c)$ is coercive if for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$ the subset $\{u \in \mathcal{M}(c) : E(u) \leq a\}$ is bounded.

Lemma 3.2. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ and $c > c_0$, then E restricted to $\mathcal{M}(c)$ is coercive and bounded from below by a positive constant.

Proof. We assume throughout the proof that $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$. In view of the expression of E(u) given by (3.1), the coercivity trivially holds when $\sigma N > 4$, whereas the conclusion follows from Lemma 2.2 when $\sigma N = 4$.

We now show the existence of a positive lower bound. When $\sigma N > 4$, using (2.6) and the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (1.4) we get that

(3.2)
$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 dx \leq \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 dx = \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma+2} dx$$
$$\leq \frac{\sigma N B_N(\sigma)}{2(2\sigma+2)} c^{1+\sigma-\sigma N/4} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{\sigma N}{4}}.$$

Since $\sigma N > 4$, this provides a lower bound on $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 dx$, whence on E.

When $\sigma N = 4$, we need a lower bound on $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 dx$. Note that, still by (2.6),

(3.3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \le \frac{N}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx$$

If $1 \le N \le 3$, we have $2 + \frac{8}{N} < 2^*$, so that, the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (2.1) provides, for some constant C > 0, the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx \le C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \right)^2,$$

which, in view of (3.3) allows to conclude. When $N \ge 4$, we have $2^* < 2 + \frac{8}{N} < 4^*$ so that the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (2.2) yields, for some constant C > 0,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} dx \le C_N(\sigma) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{8}{N}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 dx \right)^{1-\frac{4}{N}} \le C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 dx \right)^2,$$

where the last inequality follows from Remark 2.3. In view of (3.3) the conclusion again follows.

Remark 3.3. It is clear from Lemma 2.2 and Lemma 3.2 that there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}(c)} \min\left(E(u), \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx, \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx\right) \ge \delta > 0$$

and $c > c_0$ and

$$\inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}(c)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \ge \delta > 0$$

if $4 \leq \sigma N$ if N = 1, 2, 3, 4 and $4 \leq \sigma N < \frac{4N}{N-2}$ if $N \geq 5$.

 $\textit{if } 4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$

Lemma 3.4. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$, c > 0 and $u \in S(c)$. If $\sigma N = 4$, assume further that $\sup_{\lambda > 0} E(u_{\lambda}) < \infty$. There exists a unique $\lambda_u > 0$ for which $u_{\lambda_u} \in \mathcal{M}(c)$. Moreover, we have $E(u_{\lambda_u}) = \max_{\lambda > 0} E(u_{\lambda})$ and the function $\lambda \mapsto E(u_{\lambda})$ is concave on $[\lambda_u, \infty)$. Moreover, if $Q(u) \leq 0$, then $\lambda_u \in (0, 1]$.

Proof. For any $u \in S(c)$, differentiating the identity (1.7) with respect to $\lambda > 0$, we obtain

$$\frac{d}{d\lambda}E(u_{\lambda}) = \gamma\lambda \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta u|^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla u|^{2} dx - \frac{\sigma N\lambda^{\sigma N/2-1}}{2(2\sigma+2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u|^{2\sigma+2} dx$$
$$= \frac{1}{\lambda}Q(u_{\lambda}).$$

When $\sigma N > 4$ it is easily seen that there exists a unique $\lambda_u > 0$ such that $Q(u_{\lambda_u}) = 0$ and also that

$$\frac{d}{d\lambda}E(u_{\lambda}) > 0 \text{ if } \lambda \in (0,\lambda_u) \text{ and } \frac{d}{d\lambda}E(u_{\lambda}) < 0 \text{ if } \lambda \in (\lambda_u,\infty)$$

from which we deduce that $E(u_{\lambda}) < E(u_{\lambda_u})$, for any $\lambda > 0$, $\lambda \neq \lambda_u$. When $\sigma N = 4$, since we assume that $\sup_{\lambda>0} E(u_{\lambda}) < \infty$, then necessarily

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx < \frac{1}{\sigma+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx,$$

and thus there also exists a unique $\lambda_u > 0$ such that $Q(u_{\lambda_u}) = 0$ and (3) holds.

Now writing $\lambda = t\lambda_u$, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{d^2}{d^2\lambda} E(u_\lambda) &= \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx - \frac{\sigma N(\sigma N - 2)}{4(2\sigma + 2)} t^{\frac{\sigma N}{2} - 2} \lambda_u^{\frac{\sigma N}{2} - 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda_u^2} \Big[\gamma \lambda_u^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx - \frac{\sigma N(\sigma N - 2)}{4(2\sigma + 2)} t^{\frac{\sigma N}{2} - 2} \lambda_u^{\frac{\sigma N}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx \Big]. \end{split}$$

Since

$$0 = Q(u_{\lambda_u}) = \gamma \lambda_u^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_u \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx - \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \lambda_u^{\frac{\sigma N}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx,$$

we infer that $\frac{d^2}{d^2\lambda}E(u_\lambda) < 0$ for any $t \ge 1$. This proves the lemma.

Remark 3.5. It is easily seen that the map $u \to \lambda_u$ is of class C^1 . This follows by the Implicit Function Theorem if $\sigma N > 4$, while the case $\sigma N = 4$ is even simpler since we then have the explicit expression of λ_u .

Our next lemma is not needed to derive our main results but it provides a better understanding of the set $\mathcal{M}(c)$ and could prove useful in other contexts.

Lemma 3.6. Assume $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ and c > 0. Then $\mathcal{M}(c)$ is a C^1 manifold of codimension 2 in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, whence a C^1 manifold of codimension 1 in S(c).

Proof. By definition, $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$ if and only if $G(u) := ||u||_2^2 - c = 0$ and Q(u) = 0. It is easy to check that G, Q are of C^1 class. Hence we only have to check that for any $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$,

$$(dG(u), dQ(u)) : H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R}^2$$
 is surjective

Otherwise, dG(u) and dQ(u) are linearly dependent, i.e. there exists $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $\varphi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$,

$$2\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \Delta u \Delta \varphi \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \nabla u \cdot \nabla \varphi \, dx - \frac{\sigma N}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma} u\varphi \, dx = 2\nu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u\varphi \, dx,$$

namely u weakly solves

$$2\gamma\Delta^2 u - \Delta u = 2\nu u + \frac{\sigma N}{2}|u|^{2\sigma}u.$$

From Lemma 10.1 in the Appendix, we deduce that

$$4\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx = \frac{(\sigma N)^2}{2(2\sigma+2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx,$$

and then, since Q(u) = 0, we infer that

$$4\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx = \sigma N\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{\sigma N}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx$$

sible since $\sigma N \ge 4$ and $u \in S(c)$

which is impossible since $\sigma N \ge 4$ and $u \in S(c)$.

Our aim now is to prove the existence of a Palais-Smale sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ at level $\Gamma(c)$ for E restricted S(c). Our arguments are directly inspired from [9]. We start be recalling the following definition [31, Definition 3.1].

Definition 3.7. Let B be a closed subset of a metric space Y. We say that a class \mathcal{G} of compact subsets of Y is a homotopy stable family with closed boundary B provided

- (1) every set in \mathcal{G} contains B;
- (2) for any $A \in \mathcal{G}$ and any $\eta \in C([0,1] \times Y,Y)$ satisfying $\eta(t,x) = x$ for all $(t,x) \in (\{0\} \times Y) \cup ([0,1] \times B)$, we have $\eta(\{1\} \times A) \in \mathcal{G}$.

We explicitly observe that $B = \emptyset$ is admissible. Now for $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, we define $F : S(c) \to \mathbb{R}$ by $F(u) = E(u_{\lambda_u})$, where λ_u is uniquely defined by $u_{\lambda_u} \in \mathcal{M}(c)$, see Lemma 3.4. When $\sigma N = 4$, we define similarly F on the open set $\mathcal{E}(c) \subset S(c)$ on which $\sup_{\lambda>0} E(u_{\lambda}) < \infty$. As in [9, Lemma 3.7] it can be readily proved that if $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{E}(c)$ is such that $u_n \to u \in \partial \mathcal{E}(c)$ as $n \to \infty$ then $F(u_n) \to +\infty$ as $n \to \infty$. Finally note that since the map $u \mapsto \lambda_u$ is of class C^1 , see Remark 3.5, the functional F is of class C^1 .

Lemma 3.8. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$. Let \mathcal{G} be a homotopy stable family of compact subsets of S(c) with closed boundary B and let

$$e_{\mathcal{G}} := \inf_{A \in \mathcal{G}} \max_{u \in A} F(u).$$

Suppose that B is contained in a connected component of $\mathcal{M}(c)$ and that $\max\{\sup F(B), 0\} < e_{\mathcal{G}} < \infty$. Then there exists a Palais-Smale sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ for E restricted to S(c) at level $e_{\mathcal{G}}$.

Proof. Take $(D_n)_n \subset \mathcal{G}$ such that $\max_{u \in D_n} F(u) < e_{\mathcal{G}} + \frac{1}{n}$ and

$$\eta: [0,1] \times S(c) \to S(c), \ \eta(t,u) = u_{1-t+t\lambda_u}$$

Since $\lambda_u = 1$ for any $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$, and $B \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$, we have $\eta(t, u) = u$ for $(t, u) \in (\{0\} \times S(c)) \cup ([0, 1] \times B)$. Observe also that η is continuous. Then, using the definition of \mathcal{G} , we have

$$A_n := \eta(\{1\} \times D_n) = \{u_{\lambda_u} : u \in D_n\} \in \mathcal{G}.$$

Also notice that $A_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ for all n. Let $v \in A_n$, i.e. $v = u_{\lambda_u}$ for some $u \in D_n$ and F(u) = F(v). So $\max_{A_n} F = \max_{D_n} F$ and therefore $(A_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ is another minimizing sequence of $e_{\mathcal{G}}$. Using the equivariant minimax principle [31, Theorem 3.2], we obtain a Palais-Smale sequence $(\tilde{u}_n)_n$ for Fon S(c) at level $e_{\mathcal{G}}$ such that $\operatorname{dist}_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}(\tilde{u}_n, A_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Now writing $\lambda_n = \lambda_{\tilde{u}_n}$ to shorten the notations, we set $u_n = (\tilde{u}_n)_{\lambda_n} \in \mathcal{M}(c)$. We claim that there exists C > 0 such that,

(3.4)
$$\frac{1}{C} \le \lambda_n^2 \le C$$

for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough. Indeed, notice first that

$$\lambda_n^2 = \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta \tilde{u}_n|^2 \, dx}.$$

Since by definition we have $E(u_n) = F(\tilde{u}_n) \to e_{\mathcal{G}}$, we deduce from Lemma 3.2 and Remark 3.3, that there exists M > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{M} \le \|\Delta u_n\|_2 \le M.$$

On the other hand, since $A_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$, is a minimizing sequence for $e_{\mathcal{G}}$ and E is coercive on $\mathcal{M}(c)$, we deduce that $(A_n)_n$ is uniformly bounded in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and thus from $\operatorname{dist}_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}(\tilde{u}_n, A_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, this implies that $\sup_n \|\tilde{u}_n\| < \infty$. Also, since A_n is compact for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a $v_n \in A_n$ such that $\operatorname{dist}_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}(\tilde{u}_n, A_n) = \|v_n - \tilde{u}_n\|$ and, using once again Remark 3.3, we also infer that

$$\|\Delta \tilde{u}_n\|_2 \ge \|\Delta v_n\|_2 - \|\Delta (\tilde{u}_n - v_n)\|_2 \ge \frac{\delta}{2},$$

for some $\delta > 0$. This proves the claim.

Next, we show that $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ is a Palais-Smale sequence for E on S(c) at level $e_{\mathcal{G}}$. Denoting by $\|.\|_*$ the dual norm of $(T_{u_n}S(c))^*$, we have

$$||dE(u_n)||_* = \sup_{\psi \in T_{u_n}S(c), \ ||\psi|| \le 1} |dE(u_n)[\psi]| = \sup_{\psi \in T_{u_n}S(c), \ ||\psi|| \le 1} |dE(u_n)[(\psi_{\frac{1}{\lambda_n}})_{\lambda_n}]|$$

It can be checked that the map $T_uS(c) \to T_{u_{\lambda_u}}S(c)$ defined by $\varphi \to \varphi_{\lambda_u}$ is an isomorphism, see [9, Lemma 3.6] for a proof of a closely related result. Also, see here [9, Lemma 3.8] or [8, Lemma 3.2], we have that $dF(u)[\varphi] = dE(u_{\lambda_u})[\varphi_{\lambda_u}]$ for any $u \in S(c)$ and $\varphi \in T_uS(c)$. It follows that

(3.5)
$$\|dE(u_n)\|_* = \sup_{\psi \in T_{u_n} S(c), \ \|\psi\| \le 1} |dF(\tilde{u}_n)[\psi_{\frac{1}{\lambda_n}}]|.$$

At this point it is easily seen from (3.4) that (increasing C if necessary) $\|\psi_{\frac{1}{\lambda_n}}\| \leq C \|\psi\| \leq C$ and we deduce from (3.5) that $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ is a Palais-Smale sequence for E on S(c) at level $e_{\mathcal{G}}$.

Lemma 3.9. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ and $c > c_0$. There exists a Palais-Smale sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ for E restricted to S(c) at the level $\Gamma(c)$.

Proof. We use Lemma 3.8 taking the set $\overline{\mathcal{G}}$ of all singletons belonging to S(c) (or to $\mathcal{E}(c) \subset S(c)$ if $\sigma N = 4$) and $B = \emptyset$. It is clearly a homotopy stable family of compact subsets of S(c) (without boundary). Observe that

$$e_{\bar{\mathcal{G}}} := \inf_{A \in \bar{\mathcal{G}}} \max_{u \in A} F(u) = \inf_{u \in S(c)} \sup_{\lambda > 0} E(u_{\lambda}).$$

We claim that

$$(3.6) e_{\bar{\mathcal{G}}} = \Gamma(c)$$

Indeed, on one hand, we observe that for any $u \in S(c)$, either $\sup_{\lambda>0} E(u_{\lambda}) = +\infty$ or there exists $\lambda_u > 0$ such that $u_{\lambda_u} \in \mathcal{M}(c)$ and $E(u_{\lambda_u}) \leq \sup_{\lambda>0} E(u_{\lambda})$. This implies that

$$\inf_{u \in S(c)} \sup_{\lambda > 0} E(u_{\lambda}) \ge \inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}(c)} E(u).$$

On the other hand, for any $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$, $E(u) \ge \sup_{\lambda>0} E(u_{\lambda})$ and so

$$\inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}(c)} E(u) \ge \inf_{u \in S(c)} \sup_{\lambda > 0} E(u_{\lambda})$$

Thus (3.6) holds and the lemma follows directly from Lemma 3.8.

Lemma 3.10. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$, $c > c_0$ and $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ be a Palais-Smale sequence for E restricted to S(c). Then there exist $u_c \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, a sequence $(\alpha_n)_n \subset \mathbb{R}$ and $\alpha_c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that, up to translation and up to the extraction of a subsequence,

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \ u_n \rightharpoonup u_c \neq 0 \ in \ H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \ as \ n \rightarrow \infty; \\ (ii) \ \alpha_n \rightarrow \alpha_c \ in \ \mathbb{R} \ as \ n \rightarrow \infty; \\ (iii) \ \gamma \Delta^2 u_n - \Delta u_n + \alpha_n u_n - |u_n|^{2\sigma} u_n \rightarrow 0 \ in \ H^{-2}(\mathbb{R}^N) \ as \ n \rightarrow \infty; \\ (iv) \ \gamma \Delta^2 u_c - \Delta u_c + \alpha_c u_c = |u_c|^{2\sigma} u_c. \end{array}$

Here $H^{-2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ denotes the dual of $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. In addition, if $||u_n - u_c||_{2\sigma+2} \to 0$ and $\alpha_c > 0$, then $||u_n - u_c|| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

Proof. First observe that, because of Lemma 3.2, we can assume without loss of generality that $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ is a bounded sequence. After a suitable translation in \mathbb{R}^N and up to the extraction of a subsequence, we can also assume that $u_n \rightharpoonup u_c \neq 0$. Indeed, if $u_c = 0$, then, applying [37, Lemma I.1], we infer that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx = 0.$$

which contradicts Remark 3.3.

Now since, $(u_n)_n$ is bounded in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, we know from [18, Lemma 3] (adapted from the unit sphere to S(c)), that $\|dE_{|_{S(c)}}(u_n)\|_{H^{-2}} = o_n(1)$ is equivalent to $\|dE(u_n) - \frac{1}{c}dE(u_n)[u_n]u_n\|_{H^{-2}} = o_n(1)$. Therefore, for any $\varphi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, we infer that

(3.7)
$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \Delta u_n \Delta \varphi \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \nabla u_n \nabla \varphi \, dx + \alpha_n \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_n \varphi \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma} u_n \varphi \, dx = o_n(1),$$

where

(3.8)
$$-\alpha_n = \frac{1}{c} \left(\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \right).$$

From (3.7)-(3.8), we deduce that (*ii*)-(*iii*) hold whereas the weak convergence $u_n \rightharpoonup u_c$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ implies, in a standard way, (*ii*)-(*iii*) and (*iv*).

Finally, assume further that $(u_n)_n$ strongly converges to u_c in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Recalling that $(u_n)_n$ is bounded in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and using the strong convergence in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, it follows from (ii)-(iii) and (iv) that

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx + \alpha_c \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^2 \, dx$$
$$= \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c|^2 \, dx + \alpha_c \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_c|^2 \, dx + o_n(1)$$

Since $\alpha_c > 0$ and we already know that $u_n \rightharpoonup u_c$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, this implies

that $u_n \to u$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$. Thus the proof is complete.

4. EXISTENCE OF GROUND STATES, PROOF OF THEOREM 1.3

In this section we give the proof of Theorem 1.3. We start by a lemma which completes Lemma 3.10.

Lemma 4.1. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$, $c > c_0$ and $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ be a Palais-Smale sequence for E restricted to S(c), at the level $\Gamma(c)$. Assume that $u_n \rightharpoonup u_c \neq 0$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. If

(4.1)
$$\Gamma(c) \leq \Gamma(\bar{c}) \text{ for any } \bar{c} \in (c_0, c],$$

then $||u_n - u_c||_{2\sigma+2} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ and $E(u_c) = \Gamma(c)$.

Proof. We first prove the strong convergence in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and the equality $E(u_c) = \Gamma(c)$. By Lemma 3.10 we know that there exists a $\alpha_c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that u_c satisfies (1.2) and thus $Q(u_c) = 0$ by Lemma 10.1. By weak lower semicontinuity, we infer that $0 < c_1 := ||u_c||_2^2 \leq c$. Since $u_n \rightharpoonup u_c$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Delta(u_n - u_c)\|_2^2 + \|\Delta u_c\|_2^2 &= \|\Delta u_n\|_2^2 + o_n(1), \\ \|\nabla(u_n - u_c)\|_2^2 + \|\nabla u_c\|_2^2 &= \|\nabla u_n\|_2^2 + o_n(1), \end{aligned}$$

while Brezis-Lieb's Lemma implies

$$||u_n - u_c||_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2} + ||u_c||_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2} = ||u_n||_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2} + o_n(1).$$

Since $Q(u_c) = 0$, and $Q(u_n) = 0$, it then follows that $Q(u_n - u_c) = o_n(1)$, as well as

(4.2)
$$E(u_n - u_c) + E(u_c) = \Gamma(c) + o_n(1).$$

As $u_c \in \mathcal{M}(c_1)$, (4.2) implies that

$$E(u_n - u_c) + \Gamma(c_1) \le \Gamma(c) + o_n(1)$$

and from the monotonicity assumption on Γ , i.e. (4.1), we deduce that $E(u_n - u_c) \leq o_n(1)$. On the other hand, we also have

(4.3)
$$E(u_n - u_c) - \frac{2}{\sigma N}Q(u_n - u_c)$$
$$= \gamma \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta(u_n - u_c)|^2 dx + \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla(u_n - u_c)|^2 dx,$$

and since $Q(u_n - u_c) = o_n(1)$ this implies that $E(u_n - u_c) \ge o_n(1)$. Consequently, we have shown that $E(u_n - u_c) = o_n(1)$. As a direct consequence, we conclude from (4.2) that $E(u_c) = \Gamma(c)$. When $\sigma N > 4$ we also directly deduce from (4.3) that $\|\Delta(u_n - u_c)\|_2 = o_n(1)$, $\|\nabla(u_n - u_c)\|_2 = o_n(1)$ and therefore $\|u_n - u_c\|_{2\sigma+2} = o_n(1)$ since $Q(u_n - u_c) = o_n(1)$. We merely deduce that $\|\nabla(u_n - u_c)\|_2 = o_n(1)$ when $\sigma N = 4$ but since, by Lemma 2.2, the sequence $(\|\Delta(u_n - u_c)\|_2)_n$ is bounded, we reach the same conclusion using (2.1) if $N \le 3$ or (2.2) if $N \ge 4$.

Remark 4.2. Note that if we were able to prove that the inequality in (4.1) is strict for any $\bar{c} \in (c_0, c)$, it would prove that $u_c \in \mathcal{M}(c)$. Indeed, in the proof of Lemma 4.1, if we assume that $c_1 < c$ then we reach the contradiction $E(u_c) \geq \Gamma(c_1) > \Gamma(c) = E(u_c)$. Such a strict monotonicity seems however out of reach but nevertheless it is possible to derive the weaker statement that $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is nonincreasing, see Lemma 5.2 in the next section.

We can now prove our first existence result which basically states the existence of ground states in the range of masses $c > c_0$ for which we can prove the positivity of the associated putative multiplier α_c .

Proof of Theorem 1.3. Fix $c \in (c_0, c_{N,\sigma})$. From Lemma 3.9 we know that there exists a Palais-Smale sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ for E restricted to S(c) at level $\Gamma(c)$. By Lemma 3.10, $u_n \rightharpoonup u_c$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, where u_c is a nontrivial solution to

(4.4)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u_c - \Delta u_c + \alpha_c u_c = |u_c|^{2\sigma} u_c$$

for some $\alpha_c \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, Lemma 2.1 implies that $\alpha_c > 0$. In the next section we prove, see Lemma 5.2, that $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is nonincreasing. The combination of Lemma 4.1 and Lemma 5.2 shows that $u_n \to u_c$ in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. We conclude from Lemma 3.10 that $u_n \to u_c$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. This convergence implies in particular that $E(u_c) = \Gamma(c)$.

5. Some properties of the function $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$

In this section, we investigate the properties of the map $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$. All the properties that we establish are also valid for the map $c \mapsto \Gamma_{rad}(c)$ since the arguments can be reproduced when we deal with radially symmetric functions only. Our study is summarized by Theorem 5.13 which is presented at the end of the section. We begin by showing the continuity of Γ .

Lemma 5.1. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$, then the function $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is continuous on (c_0, ∞) .

Proof. Let us prove that, for any $c > c_0$, if $(c_n)_n \subset (c_0, \infty)$ is such that $c_n \to c$ as $n \to \infty$, then $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Gamma(c_n) = \Gamma(c)$. From the definition of $\Gamma(c)$, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $v \in \mathcal{M}(c)$ such that $E(v) \leq \Gamma(c) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Now, defining $v_n := \sqrt{\frac{c_n}{c}} v \in S(c_n)$, we clearly have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta v_n|^2 \, dx &\to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta v|^2 \, dx, \ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla v_n|^2 \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla v|^2 \, dx, \text{ and} \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |v_n|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |v|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx. \end{split}$$

In particular, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough, we get

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta v_n|^2 \, dx < \frac{N}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |v_n|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx$$

when $\sigma N = 4$. Now, using [15, Lemma 5.2] and the above convergences, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma(c_n) \leq \max_{\lambda > 0} E((v_n)_{\lambda}) \\ &= \max_{\lambda > 0} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta v_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla v_n|^2 \, dx - \frac{\lambda^{\sigma N/2}}{2(2\sigma + 2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |v_n|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx \right) \\ &\leq \max_{\lambda > 0} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta v|^2 \, dx + \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla v|^2 \, dx - \frac{\lambda^{\sigma N/2}}{2(2\sigma + 2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |v|^{2\sigma + 2} \, dx \right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \\ &= \max_{\lambda > 0} E((v)_{\lambda}) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = E(v) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \leq \Gamma(c) + \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

This shows that

(5.1)
$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \Gamma(c_n) \le \Gamma(c).$$

Next, let $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c_n)$ be such that

(5.2)
$$E(u_n) \le \Gamma(c_n) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}.$$

Since $Q(u_n) = 0$, using (5.1) and (5.2), we infer that, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough

$$\gamma \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx = E(u_n) \leq \Gamma(c_n) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \leq \Gamma(c) + \frac{3\varepsilon}{4}$$

and thus, when $\sigma N > 4$ we immediately deduce that $(u_n)_n \subset H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is bounded. The same conclusion holds true when $\sigma N = 4$ by Lemma 2.2. Thus we can assume without loss of generality that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx \to A, \ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \to B \text{ and } \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \to C.$$

It follows from Remark 3.3 that A > 0 and C > 0.

Now we define $\tilde{u}_n := \sqrt{\frac{c}{c_n}} u_n \in S(c)$. Using twice [15, Lemma 5.2], we obtain that $\Gamma(c) \le \max_{\lambda > 0} E((\tilde{u}_n)_{\lambda})$ $= \max_{\lambda > 0} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2} \gamma\left(\frac{c}{c_n}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left(\frac{c}{c_n}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx - \frac{\lambda^{\sigma N/2}}{2(2\sigma+2)} \left(\frac{c}{c_n}\right)^{\sigma+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \right)$ $\leq \max_{\lambda>0} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2} \gamma A + \frac{\lambda}{2} B - \frac{\lambda^{\sigma N/2}}{2(2\sigma + 2)} C \right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ $\leq \max_{\lambda>0} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx + \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx - \frac{\lambda^{\sigma N/2}}{2(2\sigma+2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \right) + \frac{3\varepsilon}{4}$ $= \max_{\lambda > 0} E((u_n)_{\lambda}) + \frac{3\varepsilon}{4} = E(u_n) + \frac{3\varepsilon}{4} \le \Gamma(c_n) + \varepsilon,$ from which we conclude that

(5.3)
$$\Gamma(c) \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \Gamma(c_n).$$

The conclusion follows from (5.1) and (5.3).

We now establish the key monotonicity property that has been used in the proof of Theorem 1.3.

Lemma 5.2. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$, then the function $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is nonincreasing on (c_0, ∞) .

Proof. To prove the lemma we have to show that if $0 < c_1 < c_2$, then $\Gamma(c_2) \leq \Gamma(c_1)$. Noting that, see (3.6),

$$\Gamma(c) = \inf_{u \in S(c)} \sup_{\lambda > 0} E(u_{\lambda}),$$

for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a $u_1 \in \mathcal{M}(c_1)$ such that

$$E(u_1) \le \gamma(c_1) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$
 and $\max_{\lambda>0} E((u_1)_{\lambda}) = E(u_1)$

where we recall that $(u_1)_{\lambda}(x) := \lambda^{\frac{N}{4}} u_1(\sqrt{\lambda}x)$. For $\delta > 0$, one can find $u_1^{\delta} \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $supp \ u_1^{\delta} \subset B_{\frac{1}{\delta}}(0)$ and $||u_1 - u_1^{\delta}|| = o(\delta)$. Thus, as $\delta \to 0$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_1^{\delta}|^2 \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_1|^2 \, dx, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_1^{\delta}|^2 \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_1|^2 \, dx,$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_1^{\delta}|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_1|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx.$$

Now, take $v^{\delta} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $supp \ v^{\delta} \subset B_{\frac{2}{\delta}+1}(0) \setminus B_{\frac{2}{\delta}}(0)$, and set

$$v_0^{\delta} := (c_2 - \|u_1^{\delta}\|_2^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{v^{\delta}}{\|v^{\delta}\|_2}.$$

Define, for $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, $w_{\lambda}^{\delta} := u_1^{\delta} + (v_0^{\delta})_{\lambda}$. Since

dist
$$(supp \ (v_0^{\delta})_{\lambda}, supp \ u_1^{\delta}) \ge \frac{1}{\delta} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} - 1\right) > 0$$

we have that $\|w_{\lambda}^{\delta}\|_{2}^{2} = c_{2}$. Also, by a standard scaling argument, we see that, as $\lambda, \delta \to 0$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta w_{\lambda}^{\delta}|^2 \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_1|^2 \, dx, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla w_{\lambda}^{\delta}|^2 \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_1|^2 \, dx$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |w_{\lambda}^{\delta}|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_1|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx.$$

In [15, Lemma 5.2] it is proved that the function $f : \mathbb{R}^+ \times (\mathbb{R}^+ \cup \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R}^+ \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ defined by $f(a, b, c) := \max_{t>0}(t^2a + tb - ct^{\frac{\sigma N}{2}})$ is continuous if $\sigma N > 4$. Setting $(w_{\lambda}^{\delta})_t = t^{\frac{N}{4}}w_{\lambda}^{\delta}(\sqrt{t}x)$, we deduce from the above convergence and (3.6) that for $\lambda, \delta > 0$ small enough,

$$\Gamma(c_2) \le \max_{t>0} E((w_{\lambda}^{\delta})_t) \le \max_{t>0} E((u_1)_t) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = E(u_1) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \le \Gamma(c_1) + \varepsilon$$

and this concludes the proof when $\sigma N > 4$. If $\sigma N = 4$, observe that for $\lambda, \delta > 0$ small enough, we have

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta w_\lambda^\delta|^2 \, dx < \frac{N}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |w_\lambda^\delta|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx$$

and therefore $\sup_{t>0} E((w_{\lambda}^{\delta})_t) < \infty$. Under this condition, it is straightforward to extend [15, Lemma 5.2] and then we conclude as in the case $\sigma N > 4$.

Remark 5.3. Since we can reproduce the proof of Lemma 5.2 when we restrict $\mathcal{M}(c)$ to radially symmetric functions, i.e. when we consider $\mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$, we infer that the map $c \mapsto \gamma_{rad}(c)$ is nonincreasing on (c_0, ∞) under the same assumption $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$.

Lemma 5.4. Let $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$ and $c > c_0$. If there exists $u \in S(c)$ such that $E(u) = \Gamma(c)$ and

(5.4)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u + \alpha u = |u|^{2\sigma} u,$$

then $\alpha \geq 0$. If moreover $\alpha > 0$, then the function $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is strictly decreasing in a right neighborhood of c.

Proof. Let $u \in S(c)$ be such that $E(u) = \Gamma(c)$ and (5.4) holds with $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. We claim that if $\alpha > 0$, respectively $\alpha < 0$, the map $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is strictly decreasing, respectively strictly increasing, in a right neighburhood of c. Let $u_{t,\lambda}(x) := \lambda^{\frac{N}{4}} \sqrt{t} u(\sqrt{\lambda}x)$ for $t, \lambda > 0$. We define $\beta_E(t, \lambda) := E(u_{t,\lambda})$, and $\beta_Q(t, \lambda) := Q(u_{t,\lambda})$. We compute

$$\frac{\partial \beta_E}{\partial t}(1,1) = -\frac{1}{2}\alpha \, c, \quad \frac{\partial \beta_E}{\partial \lambda}(1,1) = 0, \quad \frac{\partial^2 \beta_E}{\partial \lambda^2}(1,1) < 0,$$

which yields for $|\delta_{\lambda}|$ small enough and $\delta_t > 0$,

(5.5) $\beta_E(1+\delta_t, 1+\delta_\lambda) < \beta_E(1,1), \text{ if } \alpha > 0,$

or

(5.6)
$$\beta_E(1-\delta_t,1+\delta_\lambda) < \beta_E(1,1), \text{ if } \alpha < 0.$$

Observe that $\beta_Q(1,1) = 0$, and $\frac{\partial \beta_Q}{\partial \lambda}(1,1) \neq 0$. From the Implicit Function Theorem, we deduce the existence of $\varepsilon > 0$ and of a continuous function $g : [1 - \varepsilon, 1 + \varepsilon] \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ satisfying g(1) = 1 such that $\beta_Q(t,g(t)) = 0$ for $t \in [1 - \varepsilon, 1 + \varepsilon]$. Therefore, we infer from (5.5), if $\alpha > 0$, that

$$\Gamma((1+\varepsilon)c) = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}((1+\varepsilon)c)} E(u) \le E(u_{1+\varepsilon,g(1+\varepsilon)}) < E(u_c) = \Gamma(c).$$

This proves the last assertion of the lemma. If $\alpha < 0$, we rather conclude from (5.6) that

$$\Gamma((1-\varepsilon)c) = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}((1-\varepsilon)c)} E(u) \le E(u_{1-\varepsilon,g(1-\varepsilon)}) < E(u_c) = \Gamma(c).$$

Since we know from Lemma 5.2 that γ is nonincreasing, the case $\alpha < 0$ is impossible.

Corollary 5.5. Let $N \ge 1$ and $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$. The map $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is strictly decreasing on $(c_0, c_{N,\sigma})$. *Proof.* The proof follows directly by combining Theorem 1.3 and Lemma 5.4. \Box **Lemma 5.6.** For all $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$, we have $\lim_{c \to c_{\sigma}^+} \Gamma(c) = +\infty$.

Proof. When $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, the claim follows directly from (3.1) and (3.2). When $\sigma N = 4$, to show that $\lim_{c \to c_N^{*+}} \Gamma(c) = \infty$, we need to prove that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_{c_n}|^2 dx \to \infty$ for any sequences $(c_n)_n$ with $c_n \to c_N^{*+}$ and $(u_{c_n})_n \in \mathcal{M}(c_n)$. First we observe that for $u \in \mathcal{M}(c)$, using (2.6), namely that Q(u) = 0, and (2.4),

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(c) &\leq E(u) \leq \frac{\gamma}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx - \frac{N}{2N+8} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\frac{c}{c_N^*}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}} - 1 \right) \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx. \end{split}$$

Since $\Gamma(c) > 0$, for any $c > c_0$, see Lemma 3.2, and $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is nonincreasing on (c_0, ∞) , see Lemma 5.2, we deduce the existence of a $\delta > 0$ such that, for any sequences $(c_n)_n \subset \mathbb{R}$ with $c_n \to c_N^{*+}$ and $(u_{c_n})_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c_n)$, we have

(5.7)
$$0 < \delta \le \Gamma(c_n) \le \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\frac{c_n}{c_N^*} \right)^{\frac{4}{N}} - 1 \right) \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_{c_n}|^2 \, dx,$$

from which we deduce that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_{c_n}|^2 \, dx \to \infty \text{ as } n \to \infty$$

The conclusion now follows from Lemma 2.2.

We now investigate the behaviour of the function $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ as $c \to \infty$.

Proposition 5.7. Let $1 \le N \le 3$, $4 \le \sigma N < \infty$, and assume in addition that $\frac{4}{3} \le \sigma < 2$ if N = 3. Then $\lim_{c\to\infty} \Gamma(c) = 0.$

Proof. We first treat the case $\sigma N = 4$. Using both that $\Gamma(c) = \inf_{u \in S(c)} \sup_{\lambda > 0} E(u_{\lambda})$, see (3.6), and (2.15) we get

$$\Gamma(c) \le \sup_{\lambda>0} E(w_{\lambda}) = \frac{\frac{c}{\|U\|_2^2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla U|^2 \, dx\right)^2}{8\left(\left(\frac{c}{c_N^*}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}} - 1\right) \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta U|^2 \, dx}$$

where w is defined by (2.14). This shows that $\Gamma(c) \to 0$ as $c \to \infty$ since 4/N > 1.

Assume now $\sigma N > 4$ and fix an arbitrary $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfying $||u||_2 = 1$. Then $\sqrt{c}u \in S(c)$ and we infer from Lemma 3.4 that there exists a unique $\lambda_c^* > 0$ such that $Q((\sqrt{c}u)_{\lambda_c^*}) = 0$, i.e.

(5.8)
$$\lambda_c^* \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx = \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \left(c\lambda_c^*\right)^{\frac{\sigma N}{2}-1} c^{\sigma+1-\frac{\sigma N}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx.$$

Observe that $\frac{\sigma N}{2} - 1 > 0$. Also, recording that $\sigma < 2$ when N = 3, we have that $1 + \sigma - \frac{\sigma N}{2} > 0$. We then deduce from (5.8) that $c\lambda_c^* \to 0$ as $c \to \infty$. Now, using again (3.6) and (2.15), it follows that

$$\Gamma(c) \le E((\sqrt{c}u)_{\lambda_c^*}) = c(\lambda_c^*)^2 \gamma \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + c\lambda_c^* \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx,$$

clude that $\Gamma(c) \to 0$ as $c \to \infty$.

and we conc

To study the cases $\sigma > 2$ when N = 3, $\sigma > 1$ when N = 4 and $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ when $N \geq 5$, we consider first the following equation

(5.9)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u = |u|^{2\sigma} u,$$

which appears as a limit equation when $c \to \infty$ as we later show. The natural associated energy space is defined by

(5.10)
$$X := \{ u \in D^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^N) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx < \infty \}$$

that we equip with the norm

$$\|u\|_X^2 := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx.$$

Assuming $\sigma > 2$ when N = 3, $\sigma > 1$ when N = 4, and $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$ when $N \ge 5$, we see from (2.2) that X embeds continuously in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and therefore the functional E defined by (1.3) is well-defined in X and we will show that it has critical points inside that space. On the other hand, using Pohozaev identity and multiplying (5.9) by u and integrating, we get

$$0 = \gamma \left(\frac{4\sigma + 4}{\sigma N} - 1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \left(\frac{2\sigma + 2}{\sigma N} - 1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx$$

This shows (5.9) has no solution if $4 - \sigma(N-4)$ and $2 - \sigma(N-2)$ have the same sign. Therefore (5.9) has no solution if $\sigma \leq 2$ if N = 3, $\sigma \leq 1$ if N = 4 and $\sigma N \leq 2^*$ or $\sigma N \geq 4^*$ when $N \geq 5$.

Now, define

 $m := \inf\{E(u) | u \in X \setminus \{0\}, dE(u) = 0\}.$

Proposition 5.8. Assume that $\sigma > 2$ if N = 3, $\sigma > 1$ if N = 4 and $2^* < \sigma N < 4^*$ if $N \ge 5$. Then m > 0 and is achieved. Moreover,

- (1) if N = 3, 4, no minimizer belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$;
- (2) if $N \ge 5$, all minimizers belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Proof. It is classical to show that m is achieved with m > 0 if and only if

$$J(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \gamma |\Delta u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \quad \text{admits a minimizer on} \quad M := \{ u \in X : ||u||_{2\sigma+2} = 1 \}$$

To prove the existence of a minimizer, we proceed as in [23, Remark 3.2]. Let $(u_n)_n \subset M$ be a minimizing sequence. Without loss of generality, since $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is dense in X, we can assume that $(u_n)_n \subset H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Then we set $f_n = -\sqrt{\gamma}\Delta u_n + \frac{u_n}{2\sqrt{\gamma}}$ and define $v_n \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ to be the strong solution of $-\sqrt{\gamma}\Delta v_n + \frac{v_n}{2\sqrt{\gamma}} = |f_n|^*$ in \mathbb{R}^N where $|f_n|^*$ denotes the Schwarz symmetrization of $|f_n|$. Thus for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have $v_n \in H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and a particular case of [22, Lemma 3.4] implies that

$$J\left(\frac{v_n}{||v_n||_{2\sigma+2}}\right) = \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\sqrt{\gamma}\Delta v_n + \frac{v_n}{2\sqrt{\gamma}})^2 \, dx - \frac{1}{4\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v_n^2 \, dx}{||v_n||_{2\sigma+2}} \\ \leq \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\sqrt{\gamma}\Delta u_n + \frac{u_n}{2\sqrt{\gamma}})^2 \, dx - \frac{1}{4\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_n^2 \, dx}{||u_n||_{2\sigma+2}} = J\left(\frac{u_n}{||u_n||_{2\sigma+2}}\right).$$

This shows that $(\tilde{v}_n)_n := \left(\frac{v_n}{||v_n||_{2\sigma+2}}\right)_n$ is again a minimizing sequence. Now we claim that X_{rad} , the subset of radially symmetric functions in X, is compactly embedded into $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Indeed, it is well-known that if $u \in D^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is radially symmetric, we have (see for instance [17, Radial Lemma A.II]), for $|x| \neq 0$,

$$|u(x)| \le C|x|^{-(N-2)/2} \|\nabla u\|_2.$$

Using this pointwise decay, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R(0)} |u|^{2\sigma+2} dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R} |u|^{2\sigma+2-2N/(N-2)} |u|^{2N/(N-2)} dx$$
$$\le CR^{-\frac{N-2}{2}(2\sigma+2-\frac{2N}{N-2})} \|\nabla u\|_2^{(N-2)/N}.$$

Since we also have local compactness, the claim follows. Using this embedding, we get that $(\tilde{v}_n)_n$ weakly converges to some $v \in X$ with $||v||_{2\sigma+2} = 1$ and the remaining arguments are standard.

We now prove that m does not have a minimizer in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ when N = 3, 4. Assuming by contradiction that u is such a minimizer, we deduce from [23, Lemma 3] that u must have a sign and without loss of generality, we can assume that $u \ge 0$. To conclude it is therefore enough to show that (5.9) has no nontrivial nonnegative solutions in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. To this aim, we decompose (5.9) into the following elliptic system

(5.11)
$$\begin{cases} -\gamma\Delta u = v, \\ -\Delta v + \frac{1}{\gamma}v = |u|^{2\sigma+2}u. \end{cases}$$

The weak maximum principle applied to the second equation in (5.11) shows that $v \ge 0$ and thus any nontrivial nonnegative solution u to (5.9) satisfies $-\Delta u \ge 0$. The Liouville type result of [39, Lemma 4.2] now show that $u \notin L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. The proof of the assertion (2) is postponed to Proposition 10.3 in the Appendix.

Remark 5.9. If one considers (5.9) with N = 1, 2 or N = 3 and $\sigma \leq 2$ or N = 4 and $\sigma = 1$, Lemma 2.1 directly shows that there is no solution in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ nor in X (as shown by Remark 10.2).

Note that by standard arguments, m can also be defined as

(5.12)
$$m := \inf\{E(u)|u \in X \setminus \{0\}, Q(u) = 0\}.$$

Proposition 5.10. Assume $\sigma > 2$ when N = 3, $\sigma > 1$ when N = 4, and $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$ when $N \ge 5$. Then

$$\lim_{c \to \infty} \Gamma(c) = m > 0.$$

Proof. Using the definition (5.12), we directly obtain that $\Gamma(c) \geq m$ for all $c > c_0$. Now, still from (5.12) and taking Proposition 5.8 into account, we infer that there exists $u \in X \setminus L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that E(u) = m and Q(u) = 0. For R > 0, we define $u_R(x) := \eta(\frac{x}{R})u(x)$, where $\eta(x) = 1$ for $|x| \leq 1$, $\eta(x) = 0$ for $|x| \geq 2$, and $0 \leq \eta \leq 1$. Thus, as $R \to \infty$, we have

$$c_R := \|u_R\|_2 \to \infty, \|u_R\|_{2\sigma+2} \to \|u\|_{2\sigma+2}, \|\nabla u_R\|_2 \to \|\nabla u\|_2 \text{ and } \|\Delta u_R\|_2 \to \|\Delta u\|_2.$$

Now, let $\lambda_R^* > 0$ be such that $Q((u_R)_{\lambda_R^*}) = 0$. By uniqueness of λ_R^* , see Lemma 3.4, we obtain that $\lambda_R^* \to 1$ as $R \to \infty$. Thereby

$$\Gamma(c_R) \le E((u_R)_{\lambda_R}) \le E(u) + o_R(1) = \Gamma(\infty) + o_R(1),$$

where $o_R(1) \to 0$ as $R \to \infty$. This means $\lim_{R\to\infty} \Gamma(c_R) = m$. As from Lemma 5.2 we know that γ is nonincreasing, γ has a limit at infinity and therefore $\lim_{c\to\infty} \Gamma(c) = m$.

In view of Proposition 5.10 and for simplicity of notation, we define $\Gamma(\infty) := m = \lim_{c \to \infty} \Gamma(c)$.

It is clear from Corollary 5.5 that if $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$ and $c_{N,\sigma} = \infty$, then $\Gamma(c) > \Gamma(\infty)$ for all $c > c_0$. This is still true for every $\sigma \geq 2$ if N = 3 and every $\sigma \geq 1$ if N = 4.

Corollary 5.11. Let $\sigma > 2$ if N = 3 or $\sigma > 1$ if N = 4. Then $\Gamma(c) > \Gamma(\infty)$ for all $c > c_0$.

Proof. Assume by contradiction that there exists c > 0 such that $\Gamma(c) = \Gamma(\infty)$. Let $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ be a Palais-Smale sequence for E restricted to $\mathcal{M}(c)$ at level $\Gamma(c)$. We know from Lemma 5.2 that γ is nonincreasing. Therefore we can apply Lemma 3.10 and Lemma 4.1. We then deduce the existence of $u_c \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfying (5.4) for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < c_1 := ||u_c||_2^2 \leq c$ and $E(u_c) = \Gamma(c)$. By definition and monotonicity of γ , we deduce that $\Gamma(c) \leq \Gamma(c_1) \leq E(u_c) = \Gamma(c) = \Gamma(\infty)$. Thus u_c is a ground state on the constraint $S(c_1)$ and necessarily it is a solution of (5.9) by Lemma 5.4. Since $E(u_c) = \Gamma(\infty)$, the assertion (1) of Proposition 5.8 implies $u_c \notin L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. This contradiction ends the proof.

Proposition 5.12. Assume $4 \le \sigma N < 4^*$ and $N \ge 5$. There exists $c_{\infty} > 0$ such that $\Gamma(c) = \Gamma(\infty)$ for all $c \ge c_{\infty}$.

Proof. We know from Proposition 5.8 and the characterization (5.12) that there exists $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $E(u) = \gamma(\infty)$ and Q(u) = 0. Set $c_{\infty} := ||u||_2^2$. Obviously, we have $\Gamma(c_{\infty}) = \Gamma(\infty)$. Since γ is nonincreasing, see Lemma 5.2, and its limit at infinity is $\Gamma(\infty)$, see Proposition 5.10, we conclude that γ is constant for $c \geq c_{\infty}$.

As a consequence of the results established in this section we can state the following theorem.

Theorem 5.13. Let $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$. For any $c > c_0$ the function $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is continuous, nonincreasing and $\lim_{c \to c_0^+} \Gamma(c) = \infty$. In addition

- (i) If N = 1, 2, N = 3 with $\frac{4}{3} \leq \sigma \leq 2$ or N = 4 with $\sigma = 1$, then $c \mapsto \Gamma(c)$ is strictly decreasing. Moreover, $\lim_{c\to\infty} \Gamma(c) = 0$, when N = 1, 2 or N = 3 with $\frac{4}{3} \leq \sigma < 2$.
- (ii) If N = 3 with $\sigma > 2$ or N = 4 with $\sigma > 1$, then $\lim_{c \to \infty} \Gamma(c) := \Gamma(\infty) > 0$ and $\Gamma(c) > \Gamma(\infty)$ for all $c > c_0$.
- (iii) If $N \ge 5$, then $\lim_{c\to\infty} \Gamma(c) := \Gamma(\infty) > 0$ and there exists $c_{\infty} > c_0$ such that $\Gamma(c) = \Gamma(\infty)$ for all $c \ge c_{\infty}$.

Proof of Theorem 5.13. The proof follows directly from Propositions 5.7, 5.10, 5.12 and from Corollaries 5.5 and 5.11. \Box

We leave as open question the study of $\lim_{c\to\infty} \Gamma(c)$ when N = 3, $\sigma = 2$ and N = 4, $\sigma = 1$. We conjecture that the limit is zero in those cases.

6. RADIAL SOLUTIONS, PROOF OF PROPOSITION 1.6 AND OF THEOREMS 1.4 AND 1.5

In this section, we focus on radial solutions. We begin by giving the proof of Theorem 1.4. We denote by $\sigma : H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \to H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ the transformation $\sigma(u) = -u$. The following definition is [31, Definition 7.1].

Definition 6.1. Let B be a closed σ -invariant subset of $Y \subset H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. We say that a class \mathcal{F} of compact subsets of Y is a σ -homotopy stable family with closed boundary B if

- (1) every set in \mathcal{F} is σ -invariant.
- (2) every set in \mathcal{F} contains B;
- (3) for any $A \in \mathcal{F}$ and any $\eta \in C([0,1] \times Y,Y)$ satisfying, for all $t \in [0,1]$, $\eta(t,u) = \eta(t,\sigma(u))$, $\eta(t,x) = x$ for all $(t,x) \in (\{0\} \times Y) \cup ([0,1] \times B)$, we have $\eta(\{1\} \times A) \in \mathcal{F}$.

Lemma 6.2. Let \mathcal{F} be a σ -homotopy stable family of compact subsets of $\mathcal{M}(c)$ with a close boundary B. Let $c_{\mathcal{F}} := \inf_{A \in \mathcal{F}} \max_{u \in A} E(u)$. Suppose that B is contained in a connected component of $\mathcal{M}(c)$ and that $\max\{\sup E(B), 0\} < c_{\mathcal{F}} < \infty$. Then there exists a Palais-Smale sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c)$ for E restricted to S(c) at level $c_{\mathcal{F}}$. *Proof.* We are brief here and refer to [9] for a proof of a closely related result, [9, Theorem 3.2]. The proof of Lemma 6.2 first relies on an equivariant version of Lemma 3.8 whose proof makes use of [31, Theorem 7.2] instead of [31, Theorem 3.2] but which for the rest is almost identical. Then the lemma follows just as [9, Theorem 3.2] follows from [9, Proposition 3.9].

Next, we recall the definition of the genus of a set due to M.A. Krasnosel'skii, adapted to our setting,

Definition 6.3. For any closed σ -invariant set $A \subset H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, the genus of A is defined by

$$j(A) := \min\{n \in \mathbb{N}^+ : \exists \varphi : A \to \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}, \varphi \text{ is continuous and odd}\}.$$

When there is no φ as described above, we set $j(A) = \infty$.

Now let $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$ be the family of compact and σ -invariant sets contained in $\mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$. For any $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$, define

$$J_k := \{A \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}} : j(A) \ge k\}$$

and

$$\beta_k := \inf_{A \in \Gamma_k} \sup_{u \in A} E(u).$$

Lemma 6.4.

- (i) Let $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, then for any $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$, $J_k \neq \emptyset$.
- (ii) Let $\sigma N = 4$, then for any $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$ there exists a $c(k) > c_N^*$ such that $J_k \neq \emptyset$ for all $c \ge c(k)$.

Proof. For $k \in \mathbb{N}^+$ and $V \subset H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that dim V = k, we set $SV(c) := V \cap S(c)$. First we consider the case $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$. By the basic property of the genus, see [3, Theorem 10.5], we have that $j(SV(c)) = \dim V = k$. In view of Lemma 3.4, for any $u \in SV(c)$ there exists a unique $\lambda_u^* > 0$ such that $u_{\lambda_u^*} \in \mathcal{M}(c)$. It is easy to check that the mapping $\varphi : SV(c) \to \mathcal{M}(c)$ defined by $\varphi(u) = u_{\lambda_u^*}$ is continuous and odd. Then [3, Lemma 10.4] leads to $j(\varphi(SV(c))) \ge j(SV(c)) = k$ and this shows that $J_k \neq \emptyset$.

In the case $\sigma N = 4$ we prove that $J_k \neq \emptyset$ when $c > c_N^*$ is large enough. Using the fact that all norms are equivalent in a finite dimensional subspace, we get, for $c > c_N^*$ large enough and for any $u \in SV(c)$,

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx < \frac{N}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx.$$

This shows that $\sup_{\lambda>0} E(u_{\lambda}) < \infty$ and thus we can apply Lemma 3.4 for any $u \in SV(c)$. Namely that there exists a unique $\lambda_u^* > 0$ such that $Q(u_{\lambda_u^*}) = 0$. At this point, we conclude as in the case $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$.

Proof of Theorem 1.4. Consider the minimax level β_k . From Lemma 6.4 we know that each of the classes J_k is non empty and thus to each of them we can apply Lemma 6.2 to obtain the existence of Palais-Smale sequences $(u_n^k)_n \subset \mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$ for E restricted to S(c) at the levels β_k . By Lemma 3.10 we know that, up to a subsequence, $(u_n^k)_n$ converges strongly in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ if $(u_n^k)_n$ converges strongly in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and if the limit u^k solves (4.4) for some $\alpha_c^k > 0$. The first condition holds because the embedding $H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is compact for $2 whereas the positivity of <math>\alpha_c^k$ follows from Lemma 2.1 when $c < c_{N,\sigma}$. Observe that in the case $\sigma N = 4$, we can conclude only if $c(k) \leq c_{N,\sigma}$. This last inequality holds true when $2 \leq N \leq 4$ since $c_{N,\sigma} = \infty$. Thus, under our assumptions, $(u_n^k)_n$ converges to a u^k which is a critical point of E on S(c). Now to show that if two (or more) values of β_k coincide, then E has infinitely many critical points at level c(k), one can either proceed in the usual way, or adapt [9, Lemma 6.4] to the present setting.

Next, we turn to the proof of Theorem 1.5. Compared with Theorem 1.4, the additional argument we use to eliminate the restriction $c \in (0, c_{\sigma,N})$ is a sharp decay estimate for the solutions of (1.11). Before proceeding, we recall some classical facts. Let G be the fundamental solution to $\Delta^2 - \Delta$, i.e.

$$\Delta^2 G - \Delta G = \delta_0$$

We recall that

$$G = g_{-1} - g_0,$$
²¹

where g_{-a} is the fundamental solution to $-\Delta + a$, where $a \in \mathbb{R}$, see [21, Proposition 3.13]. It is well-known that $g_0(x) = c_N |x|^{2-N}$ whereas for a > 0,

$$g_{-a}(x) = \begin{cases} C_1 |x|^{2-N} + o(|x|^{2-N}), & when \ |x| \to 0^+, \\ C_2 \frac{e^{-\sqrt{a}|x|}}{|x|^{\frac{N-1}{2}}} + o\left(\frac{e^{-\sqrt{a}|x|}}{|x|^{\frac{N-1}{2}}}\right), & when \ |x| \to \infty, \end{cases}$$

where $C_1, C_2 > 0$.

Proof of Proposition 1.6. To simplify the notations, we assume that $\gamma = 1$. By elliptic regularity, $u \in C^{4,\alpha}$, see for instance [21, Theorem 3.7].

Claim 1 : $|u|^{2\sigma}u \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Since $u \in X$, $u \in L^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for $s \geq \frac{2N}{N-2}$ and therefore we can assume that $2\sigma + 1 < \frac{2N}{N-2}$ otherwise we are done. Let $t = 2\sigma + 2$. Since $u^{t-1} \in L^{\frac{2N}{(N-2)(t-1)}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $W^{2,p}$ -estimates imply that $-\Delta u \in L^{\frac{2N}{(N-2)(t-1)}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and in turn that $u \in L^{\frac{2N}{(N-2)(t-1)-4}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ by Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality, see [49, Chapter 5, §1.2 - Theorem 1]. Since $N \leq 6$, we have

$$q_0 = \frac{2N}{(N-2)(t-1)-4} < \frac{2N}{N-2}.$$

If $q_0 \leq t - 1$, we are done. Otherwise we proceed by induction. Setting

$$q_{k+1} = \frac{q_k N}{(t-1)N - 2q_k}$$

for $k \ge 0$, we deduce in the same way that $\Delta u \in L^{\frac{q_k}{t-1}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ implies $u \in L^{q_{k+1}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as long as $q_k > t-1$. Moreover, if $q_k > t-1$, we have $0 < (t-1)N - 2q_k < (t-1)(N-2)$ which yields

$$q_k - q_{k+1} = q_k \frac{(t-2)N - 2q_k}{(t-1)N - 2q_k} > \frac{(t-2)N - 2q_k}{N-2}$$

and using the fact that $q_k < t$ implies $(t-2)N - 2q_k > t(N-2) - 2N$, we infer that

$$q_k - q_{k+1} > \frac{t(N-2) - 2N}{N-2} = t - \frac{2N}{N-2}$$

Since $\sigma N > 2^*$, we have that $\varepsilon = t - \frac{2N}{N-2} > 0$ and therefore $q_{k+1} < q_k - \varepsilon$. It follows that $q_k < t - 1$ after a finite number of iterations and the claim is proved.

Claim 2 : there exists a constant C > 0 such that, for |x| large enough,

$$|u(x)| \le C|x|^{2-N}.$$

By Claim 1, we know $f = |u|^{2\sigma} u \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Thus, we deduce from [21, Proposition 3.14] that

$$u(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(y) G(x-y) dy.$$

Next, we follow closely [29, Lemma 2.9]. Let R > 0. We define $M_R = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R$ and $\tilde{f} = |u|^{2\sigma}$. Using Hölder inequality with $q = 1 + \frac{1}{2\sigma}$ and noticing that $|G(x)| \leq C|x|^{2-N}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{M_R} |\tilde{f}(y)| |G(x-y)| dy &\leq C \sup_{y \in M_R} |\tilde{f}(y)| \left(\int_{B_1(x)} |x-y|^{(2-N)} dy \right) \\ &+ C \left(\int_{M_R} |\tilde{f}(y)|^q dy \right)^{1/q} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_1(x)} |x-y|^{(2-N)q'} dy \right)^{1/q'} \to 0, \ as \ R \to \infty. \end{split}$$

Notice that (2 - N)q' < -N thanks to our assumptions on σ . So we choose R > 0 such that

(6.1)
$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{M_R} |\tilde{f}(y)| |G(x-y)| dy < 2^{-N}$$

We define

$$u_0(x) = \int_{B_R} G(x-y)\tilde{f}(y)u(y)dy, \ B_0(x) = \int_{M_R} G(x-y)\tilde{f}(y)u(y)dy,$$
22

and

$$u_k(x) = \int_{M_R} G(x-y)\tilde{f}(y)u_{k-1}(y)dy, \ B_k(x) = \int_{M_R} G(x-y)\tilde{f}(y)B_{k-1}(y)dy$$

Using the fact that $u_{k+1} = B_k - B_{k+1}$, for all $k \ge 0$, we see that for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$, we can decompose u as

$$u = \sum_{k=0}^{m} u_k + B_m$$

Set $\beta_k = \sup_{|x| \ge R} |B_k(x)|$. One can show proceeding as above and using that $\tilde{f}u \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ that $\beta_0 < \infty$. Using (6.1), we find that $\beta_k \le 2^{-N}\beta_{k-1} \le 2^{-kN}\beta_0 \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$. This implies that $B_m \to 0$ as $m \to \infty$ which shows that $u = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k$ holds uniformly in M_R . Set $\mu_k = \sup_{|x| \ge R} |x|^{N-2} |u_k(x)|$. Since $u_0 \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and, for $|x| \ge 2R$,

$$|u_0(x)| \le C \int_{B_R} |x-y|^{2-N} |\tilde{f}(y)u(y)| dy \le C |x|^{2-N},$$

we have $\mu_0 < \infty$. Moreover, we have, using Young inequality and (6.1),

$$\begin{aligned} |x|^{N-2}|u_k(x)| &\leq C\mu_{k-1}|x|^{N-2}\int_{M_R} |\tilde{f}(y)||y|^{2-N}|G(x-y)|dy\\ &\leq C\mu_{k-1}\int_{M_R} |\tilde{f}(y)|(1+|y|^{2-N}|x-y|^{N-2})|x-y|^{2-N}\\ &\leq \frac{\mu_{k-1}}{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Iterating the previous estimate, we find that $\sum_{k\geq 0} \mu_k < \infty$. Since $u = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k$, we deduce that $|u(x)| \leq C|x|^{2-N}$, for |x| large enough.

Conclusion. To derive the sharp decay, we use a maximum principle for linear cooperative systems. Letting $\tilde{f}(x) = |u|^{2\sigma}$, we can rewrite (1.11) as

(6.2)
$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = v, \\ -\Delta v + v = \tilde{f}v \end{cases}$$

Applying [48, Theorem 3] with $L = \begin{pmatrix} \Delta \\ \Delta \end{pmatrix}$ and $C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \tilde{f} & -1 \end{pmatrix}$, we see that if there exists a C^2 function V such that $V(x) \ge 0$ and $-\Delta V(x) \ge 0$, for all $x \in \partial \Omega$ and

(6.3)
$$\Delta^2 V - \Delta V - \tilde{f}(x)V \ge 0, \text{ in } \Omega,$$

then the maximum principle applies for the vector $U = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix}$ i.e. if $LU + CU \leq 0$ in Ω and $U \geq 0$

in $\partial\Omega$, then $U \ge 0$ in Ω . We claim that u has a constant sign in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R$ if R > 0 is large enough. Indeed, suppose by contradiction that this is not the case. Then u has to oscillate around 0 which implies that there exist $R_2 > R_1 > R$ such that u attains a positive local maximum at R_1 and R_2 for which $U(R_i) \ge 0$, i = 1, 2, and a negative minimum in between. From Claim 2, we deduce that $\tilde{f}(x) \le C|x|^{2\sigma(2-N)}$, for |x| large enough. So taking $\Omega = B_{R_2} \setminus B_{R_1}$, one sees that for $\varepsilon > 0$ small and $R_1 > R_2 > R$ big enough, the function $V(x) = |x|^{2-N+\varepsilon}$ satisfies (6.3) since

$$\Delta^2 V(x) - \Delta V(x) - \tilde{f}(x)V(x) \ge \varepsilon (N - 2 - \varepsilon)|x|^{-N + \varepsilon} \left(1 + (-N + \varepsilon)(-2 + \varepsilon)|x|^{-2} - C|x|^{2 - 2\sigma(N - 2)} \right)$$

and $2 - 2\sigma(N-2) < 0$. Thus the maximum principle applies and gives that u and $v = -\Delta u \ge 0$ in $B_{R_2} \setminus B_{R_1}$ which yields a contradiction. Therefore, there exists R > 0 such that u has a constant sign in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R$. We assume without loss of generality that $u \ge 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R$. Hence, applying the maximum principle to the second equation of (6.2), we deduce that $v = -\Delta u \ge 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R$. Thanks to [39, Lemma 4.2], we deduce that there exists $C \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ such that

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^{2-N}} = C.$$

Remark 6.5. (i) Proposition 1.6 implies in particular that, under its assumption, any radial solution $u \in X$ to (1.11) does not belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

(ii) Let $\alpha > 0$ and assume that N = 3 and $\sigma > 2$ or N = 4 and $\sigma > 1$. Assume that $u \in L^{2\sigma+2}$ is a radial solution to

$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u - \alpha u = |u|^{2\sigma} u.$$

We conjecture that also in this case, the solution u does not belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ (see [32, 38] for the case $\gamma = 0$). In this direction, we only established in [20] that $|u(x)| \leq C|x|^{\frac{1-N}{2}}$, for some constant C > 0.

The next statement is a direct corollary of Proposition 1.6, Lemma 5.4 and Lemma 2.1, both extended to the radial setting.

Corollary 6.6. Let N = 3, 4 and assume that $4 < \sigma N < \infty$. For any c > 0, if $u_c \in S(c)$ is a radial solution to

(6.4)

$$\gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u + \alpha u = |u|^{2\sigma} u,$$

with $E(u_c) = \gamma_{rad}(c)$, then $\alpha > 0$.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. For N = 1, 2 and $\sigma N \ge 4$ or N = 3 and $4/3 \le \sigma \le 2$ or N = 4 and $\sigma = 1$, Theorem 1.3 can just be recast in the radial functional setting. For N = 3 and $\sigma > 2$ or N = 4 and $\sigma > 1$, Lemma 3.9, considered in the radial setting, provides the existence of a Palais-Smale sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$ for E restricted to $S_{rad}(c)$ which minimizes E. Up to a subsequence, it weakly converges to a $u_c \in H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ which solves (6.4) for a $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Now by Lemma 3.10, we know that, up to a subsequence, $(u_n)_n$ converges strongly in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ provided it converges strongly in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\alpha > 0$. Note that the strong convergence in $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ follows from the compact embedding of $H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ into $L^{2\sigma+2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and that using this convergence, one can easily deduce that $E(u_c) = \Gamma_{rad}(c)$. To end the proof, we can assume without restriction that $||u_c||_2^2 := d < c$ (otherwise we are done). Since γ_{rad} is nonincreasing, see Remark 5.3, it then follows that $E(u_c) = \gamma_{rad}(d)$ and Corollary 6.6 applies. We deduce that $\alpha > 0$ and thus $(u_n)_n$ strongly converges in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ to u_c . In particular $u_c \in S(c)$. \Box

Corollary 6.7. If N = 3 and $\sigma \ge 2$ or N = 4 and $\sigma \ge 1$, then the map $c \mapsto \gamma_{rad}(c)$ is strictly decreasing.

Proof. One just need to argue as in the proof of Corollary 5.5 taking Corollary 6.6 into account. \Box

7. A CONCENTRATION PHENOMENON, PROOF OF THEOREM 1.7

In this section, we establish the concentration of solutions, as $c \mapsto c_N^*$, described in Theorem 1.7. As a preliminary result we derive the following lemma.

Lemma 7.1. Let $\sigma N = 4$ and $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ be a non trivial solution of

(7.1)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 u + u = |u|^{\frac{8}{N}} u$$

Then $||u||_2^2 \ge c_N^*$. Moreover, if $||u||_2^2 = c_N^*$, then u is a minimizer of the functional

$$F(u) := \frac{\gamma}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 \, dx - \frac{N}{2N+8} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx$$

on its Nehari set

$$\mathcal{N} := \{ u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\} : F'(u)u = 0 \}.$$

Proof. We know from Lemma 10.1 that

(7.2)
$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx = \frac{N}{N+4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx,$$

which implies that

(7.3)
$$F(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 \, dx.$$

Observe now that if $u \neq 0$ solves (7.1), then $||u||_2^2 \geq c_N^*$. Indeed, using the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (1.4), we deduce from (7.2) that

$$\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx \le \left(\frac{\|u\|_2^2}{c_N^*}\right)^{\frac{4}{N}} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx$$

This shows that $||u||_2^2 \ge c_N^*$ and the last assertion follows from (7.3).

We are now in a position to prove Theorem 1.7.

Proof of Theorem 1.7. By Theorem 1.3, there exist sequences $(c_n)_n \subset (c_N^*, \infty)$ with $c_n \to c_N^*$ and $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{M}(c_n)$ such that $E(u_n) = \Gamma(c_n)$. From (5), we deduce that

(7.4)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx \to \infty \text{ as } n \to \infty$$

and we therefore infer from Remark 2.3 that

(7.5)
$$\frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx} \le \frac{c_n^{1/2}}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx\right)^{1/2}} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Since $Q(u_n) = 0$, we know that

(7.6)
$$\frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2+\frac{N}{N}} dx}{\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 dx} = \frac{N+4}{N}.$$

Next, we introduce $\tilde{u}_n(x) := \varepsilon_n^{\frac{N}{2}} u_n(\varepsilon_n x)$ where we chose

$$\varepsilon_n^{-4} = \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx \to \infty \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Direct calculations show that $\|\tilde{u}_n\|_2^2 = \|u_n\|_2^2 = c_n, \|\Delta \tilde{u}_n\|_2^2 = \frac{1}{\gamma}$, and

(7.7)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\tilde{u}_n|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx = \frac{N+4}{N}$$

Using [37, Lemma I.1], we deduce from (7.7) that there exist $\delta > 0$ and a sequence $(y_n)_n \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ such that, for some R > 0,

(7.8)
$$\int_{B_R(y_n)} |\tilde{u}_n|^2 \, dx \ge \delta$$

Thus, defining

(7.9)
$$v_n(x) := \tilde{u}_n(x+y_n) = \varepsilon_n^{\frac{N}{2}} u_n(\varepsilon_n x + \varepsilon_n y_n),$$

it follows from (7.8) that there exists $v \neq 0$ such that $v_n \rightharpoonup v$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Since u_n solves

$$\gamma \Delta^2 u_n - \Delta u_n + \alpha_n u_n = |u_n|^{\frac{8}{N}} u_n,$$

where the Lagrange multiplier is given by

$$\alpha_n = \frac{1}{c_n} \left(-\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_n|^2 \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^{2+\frac{8}{N}} \, dx \right),$$

 v_n satisfies

$$\gamma \Delta^2 v_n - \varepsilon_n^2 \Delta v_n + \varepsilon_n^4 \alpha_n v_n = |v_n|^{\frac{8}{N}} v_n.$$

Combining (7.4), (7.5) and (7.6), we deduce that

$$\varepsilon_n^4 \alpha_n \to \frac{4}{c_N^* N}$$
 as $n \to \infty$.

Since $v_n \rightharpoonup v$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $n \rightarrow \infty, v$ solves

(7.10)
$$\gamma \Delta^2 v + \frac{4}{c_N^* N} v = |v|^{\frac{8}{N}} v.$$

Now setting

$$w_n(x) := \left(\frac{c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{N}{8}} v_n\left(\left(\frac{c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} x\right) \text{ and } u(x) := \left(\frac{c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{N}{8}} v\left(\left(\frac{c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} x\right),$$

it is easily seen that $w_n \to u$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$, and $||w_n||_2^2 = ||v_n||_2^2 = c_n$. Moreover it follows from (7.10) that u is solution to (7.1) and thus by Lemma 7.1, $||u||_2^2 \ge c_N^*$. On the other hand, since $w_n \to u$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$, we have $||u||_2^2 \le \liminf_{n\to\infty} ||w_n||_2^2 = c_N^*$ and thus we obtain that $||u||_2^2 = c_N^*$. By Lemma 7.1 u is a least energy solution to (7.1). Since $||u||_2^2 = c_N^*$, $||w_n||_2^2 = c_n \to c_N^*$ as $n \to \infty$, and

 $w_n \to u$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$, it follows that $w_n \to u$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $n \to \infty$. Now from the definition (7.9), and by the interpolation inequality in Lebesgue space, there holds for $2 \le q < 4^*$,

$$\left(\frac{\varepsilon_n^4 c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{N}{8}} u_n \left(\left(\frac{\varepsilon_n^4 c_N^* N}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} x + \varepsilon_n y_n \right) \to u \text{ in } L^q(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

This completes the proof.

8. Positive and sign-changing solutions, proof of Theorems 1.8 and 1.9

In this section, we prove Theorem 1.8 and Theorem 1.9. Theorem 1.3 gives the existence of a ground state for $c \in (c_0, c_{N,\sigma})$. To show that when $\sigma \in \mathbb{N}$, one of them is radial we make use of the Fourier rearrangement, introduced in [24], that we now recall. For $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, let u^{\sharp} be the Fourier rearrangement of u defined by

$$u^{\sharp} := \mathcal{F}^{-1}((\mathcal{F}u)^*),$$

where \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{-1} denote respectively the Fourier transform and the inverse Fourier transform, and f^* stands for the Schwarz rearrangement of f. Notice that u^{\sharp} is radial and $||u^{\sharp}||_2 = ||u||_2$. Moreover, we recall that [24, Lemma A.1] implies

(8.1)
$$\|\Delta u^{\sharp}\|_{2} \le \|\Delta u\|_{2}, \quad \|\nabla u^{\sharp}\|_{2} \le \|\nabla u\|_{2} \text{ and } \|u^{\sharp}\|_{2\sigma+2} \ge \|u\|_{2\sigma+2}.$$

Proof of Theorem 1.8. Let $c \in (c_0, c_{N,\sigma})$ and let u_c be a ground state associated to $\Gamma(c)$. From (8.1), we obtain that $Q(u_c^{\sharp}) \leq Q(u_c) = 0$. Hence by Lemma 3.4, there exists a $\lambda \in (0, 1]$ such that $Q((u_c^{\sharp})_{\lambda}) = 0$. Observe that

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(c) &\leq E((u_c^{\sharp})_{\lambda}) = E((u_c^{\sharp})_{\lambda}) - \frac{2}{\sigma N} Q((u_c^{\sharp})_{\lambda}) \\ &= \lambda^2 \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c^{\sharp}|^2 \, dx + \lambda \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c^{\sharp}|^2 \, dx \\ &\leq \lambda^2 \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c|^2 \, dx + \lambda \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c|^2 \, dx \\ &\leq E(u_c) - \frac{2}{\sigma N} Q(u_c) = \Gamma(c), \end{split}$$

whence $\lambda = 1$ and $E(u_c^{\sharp}) = \Gamma(c)$. Therefore, u_c^{\sharp} is also a ground state solution to (P_c) . It remains to prove that u_c^{\sharp} is sign-changing. Associated to u_c^{\sharp} there exists a Lagrange multiplier $\alpha_c \in \mathbb{R}$ so that

$$\gamma \Delta^2 u_c^{\sharp} - \Delta u_c^{\sharp} + \alpha_c u_c^{\sharp} = |u_c^{\sharp}|^{2\sigma} u_c^{\sharp}$$

When $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, we deduce from (2) and (2) that $\alpha_c \to +\infty$ as $c \to 0$ whereas the same conclusion holds when $\sigma N = 4$, as shown by (5), when $c_n \to c_N^{*+}$. In particular, this implies that $2\sqrt{\gamma\alpha_c} > 1$ when c is sufficiently small (or $c_n > c_N^{*+}$ sufficiently close to c_N^{*+} when $\sigma N = 4$). At this point, using [21, Theorem 3.7], we deduce that u_c^{\sharp} is sign-changing for c > 0 small enough.

Proof of Theorem 1.9. We borrow here an idea from [21]. We consider the modified minimization problem

$$\Gamma^+(c) := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}^+_{rad}(c)} E^+(u),$$

where

$$E^{+}(u) := \frac{\gamma}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta u|^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla u|^{2} dx - \frac{1}{2\sigma + 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u^{+}|^{2\sigma + 2} dx,$$
$$Q^{+}(u) := \gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta u|^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla u|^{2} dx - \frac{\sigma N}{2(2\sigma + 2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u^{+}|^{2\sigma + 2} dx,$$

and

$$\mathcal{M}^+_{rad}(c) := \{ u \in S(c) : Q^+(u) = 0 \} \cap H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$$

It is straightforward to check that the equivalent of Theorem 1.5 holds for the problem

$$(P_c^+) \qquad \qquad \gamma \Delta^2 u - \Delta u + \alpha u = |u^+|^{2\sigma} u^+ \quad \text{with} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^2 dx = c.$$

Namely, if $N \leq 4$ with $4 \leq \sigma N$, there exists a radial ground state solution $u_c \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\}$ to (P_c^+) for any $c > c_0$. Observe also that the associated Lagrange multiplier α_c^+ is positive for every $c > c_0$.

We claim that $\alpha_c^+ \to 0$ as $c \to \infty$. Indeed, we compute

$$\alpha_{c}^{+} = \frac{1}{c} \left(-2E^{+}(\bar{u}_{c}) + \frac{\sigma}{\sigma+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u_{c}^{+}|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \right) \le \frac{\sigma}{c(\sigma+1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u_{c}^{+}|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx$$

so that the claim will be proven if we show that

(8.2)
$$\limsup_{c \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_c^+|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx < \infty$$

Since $\Gamma(c) \geq 0$, we infer that

(8.3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_c^+|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \le (\sigma+1) \left(\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c^+|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c^+|^2 \, dx \right) \, dx$$

On the other hand, adapting the proof of Lemma 5.2, we can show that $\gamma^+(c)$ is a nonincreasing function. Thus, we deduce from (3.1), that

(8.4)
$$\gamma \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c^+|^2 \, dx + \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c^+|^2 \, dx, \quad \text{remain bounded.}$$

If $\sigma N > 4$, the combination of (8.3) and (8.4) shows immediately that (8.2) holds. If $\sigma N = 4$, we first deduce from (8.4) that the quantity $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u_c^+|^2 dx$ remains bounded and then Lemma 2.2 permits to conclude that it is also the case for $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_c^+|^2 dx$. Thus (8.2) also holds when $\sigma N = 4$.

Now using the fact that $\alpha_c^+ > 0$ is small when $c > c_0$ is sufficiently large, we may rewrite the equation in (P_c^+) as a system

$$\begin{cases} -\gamma \Delta u_c + \lambda_1 u_c = v_c, \\ -\Delta v_c + \frac{\lambda_2}{\gamma} v_c = |\bar{u}_c^+|^{2\sigma} \bar{u}_c^+, \end{cases}$$

where $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \ge 0$ satisfy $\lambda_1 \lambda_2 = \gamma \alpha_c^+$, and $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1$. It is then standard, by the strong maximum principle, to deduce that $u_c > 0$ and in particular u_c satisfies (1.2).

Remark 8.1. Observe that, when N = 1, 2 and $4 \le \sigma N < \infty$ or $4/3 \le \sigma \le 2$ and N = 3 or N = 4 and $\sigma = 1$, one can work directly in

$$\mathcal{M}^+(c) := \{ u \in S(c) : Q^+(u) = 0 \},\$$

and prove that any solution associated to $\Gamma^+(c) := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{M}^+(c)} E^+(u)$ is radially symmetric and positive. Indeed, under our assumptions on (N, σ) , the conclusions of Lemma 2.1 are available and thus the analogue of Theorem 1.3 yields the existence of a solution associated to $\gamma^+(c)$ for any $c > c_0$. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 1.9 one can show that this solution is positive. Now to show that the solution is radially symmetric around some point, we set

$$f(u,v) := (\frac{1}{4\gamma} - \alpha_c^+)u - \frac{1}{2\gamma}v + |u|^{2\sigma}u, \quad g(u,v) := v - \frac{1}{2}u.$$

Then, (1.2) is equivalent to the cooperative system

$$\begin{cases} \gamma \Delta u + g(u, v) = 0, \\ \Delta v + f(u, v) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Since we are in the setting of Busca-Sirakov [25], we can apply [25, Theorem 2], to deduce that any positive solution is radially symmetric around some point.

9. The Dispersive equation, proof of Theorems 1.10 and 1.12

This section is devoted to the dynamics of the solutions u = u(t, x) to the dispersive equation (1.1). First, we exhibit a class of initial data for which solutions to (1.1) exists globally in time. We then discuss the instability of the standing waves associated to radial ground state solutions.

We start by recalling the local well-posedness of the solutions to (1.1) and a blow-up alternative due to [44],

Lemma 9.1. ([44, Proposition 4.1]) Let $0 < \sigma N < 4^*$. For any $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, there exist T > 0 and a unique solution $u \in C([0,T); H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 so that the mass and the energy are conserved along time, that is for any $t \in [0,T)$

$$||u(t)||_2 = ||u_0||_2$$
, and $E(u(t)) = E(u_0)$

Moreover, either $T = \infty$, or $\lim_{t \to T^-} ||\Delta u(t)||_2 = \infty$.

Proof of Theorem 1.10. Let $c > c_0$ be arbitrary. First, observe that $\mathcal{O}_c \neq \emptyset$. Indeed, we know from Lemma 3.1 that if $c > c_0$ then $\mathcal{M}(c) \neq \emptyset$. Fixing $v \in \mathcal{M}(c)$, we have by definition that $E(v) \ge \Gamma(c) > 0$ and Q(v) = 0. From the scaling (1.7), we see that $E(v_\lambda) \to 0$ as $\lambda \to 0$. Note also that

$$Q(v_{\lambda}) = (\lambda^2 - \lambda^{\frac{\sigma_N}{2}})\gamma \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{\lambda - \lambda^{\frac{\sigma_N}{2}}}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx,$$

which proves that, for any $4 \leq \sigma N < 4^*$, $Q(v_\lambda) \to 0^+$ as $\lambda \to 0$. Thus, taking $\lambda > 0$ small enough, we have that $v_\lambda \in \mathcal{O}_c$.

Let $u_0 \in \mathcal{O}_c$ and denote by $u \in C([0,T); H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ the solution to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 . We now prove that u exists globally in time, i.e. $T = \infty$. Suppose by contradiction that $T < \infty$. From Lemma 9.1, we infer that

$$\lim_{t \to T^-} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u(t)|^2 \, dx = \infty.$$

Observe that $E(u(t)) = E(u_0)$ for $0 \le t < T$, and

$$E(u(t)) - \frac{2}{\sigma N}Q(u(t)) = \gamma \frac{\sigma N - 4}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \, dx + \frac{\sigma N - 2}{2\sigma N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx.$$

Thus, when $4 < \sigma N < 4^*$, we deduce from (9) that

$$\lim_{t\to T^-}Q(u(t))=-\infty$$

When $\sigma N = 4$, using the fact that both the energy and the mass are conserved, Lemma 2.2 applies and shows

$$\lim_{t \to T^-} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u(t)|^2 \, dx = \infty.$$

Again we deduce from (9) that (9) holds.

By continuity, we infer that there exists $t_0 \in (0,T)$ such that $Q(u(t_0)) = 0$. Since $||u(t_0)||_2 = ||u_0||_2 = c$, we have $E(u(t_0)) \ge \Gamma(c)$ by definition γ . This contradicts the fact that $E(u(t_0)) = E(u_0) < \Gamma(c)$. \Box

Let us now prove Theorem 1.12. To this aim, we first recall the localized virial identity introduced in [24], namely

$$M_{\varphi_R}[u] := 2 \mathrm{Im} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \bar{u} \nabla \varphi_R \nabla u \ dx,$$

where $u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ is a radial function such that $\nabla^j \varphi \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for $1 \le j \le 6$,

$$\varphi(r) := \begin{cases} \frac{r^2}{2} & \text{for } r \leq 1\\ \text{const.} & \text{for } r \geq 10 \end{cases}, \ \varphi''(r) \leq 1 \text{ for } r \geq 0, \end{cases}$$

and $\varphi_R(r) := R^2 \varphi(\frac{r}{R})$ for R > 0.

In [24, Lemma 3.1], it is proved, for $N \ge 2$, that if $u \in C([0,T); H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ is the radial solution to (1.1) with initial datum $u_0 \in H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, then

(9.1)
$$\frac{u}{dt}M_{\varphi_R}[u(t)] \leq 4N\sigma E(u_0) - (2N\sigma - 8)\gamma \|\Delta u(t)\|_2^2 - (2N\sigma - 4)\|\nabla u(t)\|_2^2 + O\left(\frac{\|\nabla u(t)\|_2^2}{R^2} + \frac{\|\nabla u(t)\|_2^\sigma}{R^{\sigma(N-1)}} + \frac{1}{R^2} + \frac{1}{R^4}\right) = 8Q(u(t)) + O\left(\frac{\|\nabla u(t)\|_2^2}{R^2} + \frac{\|\nabla u(t)\|_2^\sigma}{R^{\sigma(N-1)}} + \frac{1}{R^2} + \frac{1}{R^4}\right).$$

Proof of Theorem 1.12. Suppose that u_c is a radial ground state solution, and define

$$\Theta := \{ v \in H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\} : E(v) < E(u_c), \ \|v\|_2 = \|u_c\|_2, \ Q(v) < 0 \}.$$

The set Θ contains elements arbitrarily close to u_c in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Indeed letting $v_0 := (u_c)_{\lambda}$ we see from Lemma 3.4 that $v_0 \in \Theta$ if $\lambda > 1$ and that $v_0 \to u_c$ in $H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as $\lambda \to 1^+$. Let $v \in C([0, T); H^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ be the solution to (1.1) with radial initial datum v_0 and $T \in (0, \infty]$ be the maximal existence time. To prove the theorem, we just need to show that v(t) blows up in finite time. We divide the remaining arguments of the proof into four steps.

First Step – We claim that there exists $\beta > 0$ such that $Q(v(t)) \leq -\beta$ for any $t \in [0, T)$. Indeed, arguing as in the proof of Theorem 1.10, we easily check that $v(t) \in \Theta$ and in particular Q(v(t)) < 0 for any $t \in [0, T)$. Now setting v := v(t), in view of Lemma 3.4, since Q(v) < 0, there exists $\lambda^* < 1$ such that $Q(v_{\lambda^*}) = 0$. Moreover the function $\lambda \mapsto E(v_{\lambda})$ is concave for $\lambda \in [\lambda^*, 1]$, thus

$$E(v_{\lambda^*}) - E(v) \le (\lambda^* - 1) \frac{\partial E(u_{\lambda})}{\partial \lambda}|_{\lambda=1} = (\lambda^* - 1)Q(v).$$

Since Q(v) < 0, $E(v) = E(v_0)$ and $v_{\lambda^*} \in \mathcal{M}_{rad}(c)$, we deduce that

$$Q(v) \le (1 - \lambda^*)Q(v) \le E(v) - E(v_{\lambda^*}) \le E(v_0) - E(u_c) =: -\beta.$$

Second Step – Suppose that $\sigma \leq 4$. We claim that there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

(9.2)
$$\frac{d}{dt}M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \le -\delta \|\nabla v(t)\|_2^2 \text{ for } t \in [0,T),$$

and $t_1 \geq 0$ such that

 $M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] < 0$ for $t \ge t_1$.

To prove (9.2), we need to distinguish two cases.

Case 1: Let

$$T_1 := \{ t \in [0, \infty) : (\sigma N - 2) \| \nabla v(t) \|_2^2 \le 4N \sigma E(v_0) \}.$$

It follows from (9.1) and the First Step that

(9.4)
$$\frac{d}{dt}M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \le -7\beta \le -\delta||\nabla v(t)||_2^2$$

for some $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small and R > 0 sufficiently large.

Case 2: Set

$$T_2 := [0,\infty) \setminus T_1 = \{ t \in [0,\infty) : (\sigma N - 2) \| \nabla v(t) \|_2^2 > 4N\sigma E(v_0) \}.$$

Using the interpolation inequality (2.3), we infer from (9.1) that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt} M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] &\leq -(N\sigma - 2) \|\nabla v(t)\|_2^2 - \frac{(2N\sigma - 8)\gamma}{||v_0||_2^2} \|\nabla v(t)\|_2^4 \\ &+ O\left(\frac{1}{R^4} + \frac{\|\nabla v(t)\|_2^2}{R^2} + \frac{\|\nabla v(t)\|_2^\sigma}{R^{\sigma(N-1)}} + \frac{\mu}{R^2}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Taking R large enough and noticing that under our assumptions, we have $\sigma \leq 2$ if $N\sigma = 4$ and $\sigma \leq 4$ if $\sigma N > 4$, we deduce that

(9.5)
$$\frac{d}{dt}M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \le -\frac{(N\sigma-2)}{2} \|\nabla v(t)\|_2^2.$$

Combining (9.4) and (9.5), we conclude that there exists $\delta > 0$ such that (9.2) holds. Finally, since

$$M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] = M_{\varphi_R}[v_0] + \int_0^{t_1} \frac{d}{ds} M_{\varphi_R}[v(s)] ds,$$

the inequality (9.3) follows from the estimate

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)]\right| \ge \min\left\{7\beta, \frac{(N\sigma-2)}{2}||\nabla v(t)||_2^2\right\}.$$

Third Step – We now conclude that the solution v(t) to (1.1) with initial datum v_0 blows up in finite

time when $\sigma \leq 4$. For that purpose, we adapt another argument from [24]. Suppose by contradiction that $T = \infty$. Then, integrating (9.2) on $[t_1, t]$, and taking (9.3) into account, we have that

$$M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \le -\delta \int_{t_1}^t \|\nabla v(s)\|_2^2 ds.$$

Now using the Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality, we get from the definition of $M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)]$ that

$$|M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)]| \le 2 \|\nabla \varphi_R\|_{\infty} \|v(t)\|_2 \|\nabla v(t)\|_2 \le C \|\nabla v(t)\|_2.$$

Thus, for some $\tau > 0$,

(9.6)
$$M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \le -\tau \int_{t_1}^t |M_{\varphi_R}[v(s)]|^2 ds.$$

Setting $z(t) := \int_{t_1}^t |M_{\varphi_R}[v(s)]|^2 ds$, we obtain from (9.6) that $z'(t) \ge \tau^2 z(t)^2$. Integrating this equation, we deduce that $M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \to -\infty$ when t tends to some finite time t^* . Therefore, the solution v(t) cannot exist for all t > 0. By the blow-up alternative recalled in Lemma 9.1 this ends the proof of the theorem when $\sigma \le 4$.

Fourth Step – The case $\sigma > 4$. First, observe that if $\|\nabla v(t)\|_2$ is unbounded for $t \in [0, T)$, then $\|\Delta v(t)\|_2$ is unbounded for $t \in [0, T)$. Therefore v(t) blows up either in finite or infinite time. On the other hand, if $\|\nabla v(t)\|_2$ is bounded for $t \in [0, T)$, since $Q(v(t)) < -\beta$ by the First Step, we can choose $R \ge 1$ sufficiently large to deduce from (9.1) that

(9.7)
$$\frac{d}{dt}M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \le -4\beta.$$

As in [24], suppose by contradiction that $T = \infty$. Then, there exists $t_1 \ge 0$ such that $M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] < 0$ for all $t \ge t_1$. Using Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality and integrating (9.7) between $[t_1, t]$, we find

$$-\|\nabla\varphi_R\|_{\infty}\|v(t)\|_2^{3/2}\|\Delta v(t)\|_2^{1/2} \le M_{\varphi_R}[v(t)] \le -4a(t-t_1).$$

Therefore, we see that either v(t) blows up in finite time or that

$$\|\Delta v(t)\|_2^2 \ge C(t-t_1)^2$$
, for all $t \ge t_1$.

This completes the proof.

10. Appendix

The following lemma is proved in [19].

Lemma 10.1. Let $0 < \sigma N < 4^*$. If $v \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is a weak solution of

$$\Delta^2 v - \mu \Delta v + \omega v = d|v|^{2\sigma}$$

where γ, μ, ω, d are constants, then v satisfies I(v) = P(v) = Q(v) = 0 where

$$I(u) = \gamma \|\Delta u\|_2^2 + \mu \|\nabla u\|_2^2 + \omega \|u\|_2^2 - d\|u\|_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2}.$$

$$P(u) = \frac{(N-4)\gamma}{2} \|\Delta u\|_2^2 + \frac{(N-2)\mu}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 + \frac{N\omega}{2} \|u\|_2^2 - \frac{dN}{2\sigma+2} \|u\|_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2}$$

and

$$Q(u) = \gamma \|\Delta u\|_2^2 + \frac{\mu}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \frac{d\sigma N}{2(2\sigma+2)} \|u\|_{2\sigma+2}^{2\sigma+2}.$$

Remark 10.2. Observe that the previous lemma also holds if we assume that $v \in X$ (X being defined in (5.10)) and $\omega = 0$.

Proposition 10.3. Let $N \ge 5$ and $\sigma \in (\frac{2}{N-2}, \frac{4}{N-4})$. Then any solution $u \in X$ to (5.9) belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Proof. We can assume without loss of generality that $\gamma = 1$. The main idea of the proof consists in testing (5.9) with a function $\varphi^2 u$ where, roughly, $\varphi(x) = 1 + |x|$.

Let $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with $supp \ \psi \subset \mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_R(0)$ be such that $\psi(x) = 1$ for $|x| \ge 2R$. Here R > 0 is a constant to be determined later. For $R_1 > 2R$, we define $\varphi := \psi h_{R_1}$, where $h_{R_1} \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfies

$$h_{R_1}(x) = \begin{cases} |x| & \text{for } 2R \le |x| < R_1, \\ R_1\left(1 + th\left(\frac{|x| - R_1}{R_1}\right)\right) & \text{for } |x| \ge R_1. \end{cases}$$

Note that in the definition of h_{R_1} , th denotes the hyperbolic tangent. Now let

(10.1)
$$\lambda_1(R_1) := \sup_{|x| \ge 2R} \frac{|x| |\nabla \varphi(x)|}{\varphi(x)}, \quad \lambda_2(R_1) := \sup_{|x| \ge 2R} \frac{|x| |\Delta \varphi(x)|}{\varphi(x)}$$

From the definition of φ it readily follows that $\lambda_1(R_1) = 1$ for all $R_1 > 0$ and that $\lambda_2 := \lambda_2(R_1) \to 0$ as $R_1 \to \infty$.

As a preliminary step we derive some pointwise identities. Simple calculations yield

$$\Delta(\varphi^2 u) = \varphi^2 \Delta u + 4\varphi \nabla u \nabla \varphi + u(2\varphi \Delta \varphi + 2|\nabla \varphi|^2),$$

and

$$(\Delta(\varphi u))^2 = \varphi^2 (\Delta u)^2 + 4|\nabla\varphi\nabla u|^2 + u^2 (\Delta\varphi)^2 + 4\varphi\Delta u\nabla\varphi\nabla u + 2\varphi u\Delta u\Delta\varphi + 4u\Delta\varphi\nabla\varphi\nabla u.$$

Combining the two previous identities, we obtain

(10.2)
$$(\Delta(\varphi u))^2 = \Delta u \Delta(\varphi u^2) + 4|\nabla \varphi \nabla u|^2 + u^2 (\Delta \varphi)^2 + 4\nabla \varphi \nabla u u \Delta \varphi - 2u \Delta u |\nabla \varphi|^2.$$

We shall also use the relation

(10.3)
$$|\nabla(\varphi u)|^2 = \nabla u \nabla(\varphi^2 u) + |\nabla \varphi|^2 u^2.$$

Now testing (5.9) with $\varphi^2 u$ and using (10.2)-(10.3), we infer that

(10.4)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta(\varphi u)|^{2} + |\nabla(\varphi u)|^{2} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\varphi u|^{2} |u|^{2\sigma} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla\varphi|^{2} |u|^{2} dx + 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla\varphi\nabla u|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u\Delta\varphi|^{2} dx + 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u\Delta\varphi\nabla\varphi\nabla u dx - 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u\Delta u |\nabla\varphi|^{2} dx.$$

Recalling Hölder inequality and taking into account (2.2), we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\varphi u|^2 |u|^{2\sigma} \, dx \le \left(\int_{|x|\ge R} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma+1}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\varphi u|^{2\sigma+2} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{\sigma+1}} \\ \le C \left(\int_{|x|\ge R} |u|^{2\sigma+2} \right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta(\varphi u)|^2 + |\nabla(\varphi u)|^2 \, dx$$

Set $\delta(R) := C\left(\int_{|x|\geq R} |u|^{2\sigma+2}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma+1}}$ and observe that $\delta(R) \to 0$ as $R \to \infty$. It then follows from (10.4) that

(10.5)
$$(1 - \delta(R)) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta(\varphi u)|^{2} + |\nabla(\varphi u)|^{2} dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla\varphi|^{2} |u|^{2} dx + 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla\varphi\nabla u|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u\Delta\varphi|^{2} dx + 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u\Delta\varphi\nabla\varphi\nabla\varphi\nabla u dx - 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u\Delta u |\nabla\varphi|^{2} dx =: \sum_{i=1}^{5} I_{i}.$$

We now estimate I_i for $1 \le i \le 5$. It comes from (10.1) that

$$I_{1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla \varphi|^{2} |u|^{2} dx = \int_{|x|<2R} |\nabla \varphi|^{2} |u|^{2} dx + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |\nabla \varphi|^{2} |u|^{2} dx$$
$$\leq C \int_{|x|<2R} |u|^{2} dx + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^{2}}{|x|^{2}} dx.$$

Noting that $\nabla \varphi \nabla (\varphi u) = |\nabla \varphi|^2 u + (\nabla \varphi \nabla u) \varphi$, it follows for $|x| \ge 2R$, that

$$|\nabla \varphi \nabla u| \leq \frac{|\nabla \varphi \nabla (\varphi u)|}{\varphi} + \frac{|\nabla \varphi|^2}{\varphi^2} |\varphi u|.$$

Combining this inequality and Young's inequality, we obtain, for any $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\begin{split} \frac{I_2}{4} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla \varphi \nabla u|^2 \, dx \leq \int_{|x|<2R} |\nabla \varphi \nabla u|^2 \, dx + \int_{|x|\ge 2R} |\nabla \varphi \nabla u|^2 \, dx \\ &\leq C \int_{|x|<2R} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx + \int_{|x|\ge 2R} (1+\varepsilon) \frac{|\nabla \varphi \nabla (\varphi u)|^2}{|\varphi|^2} + \left(1+\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{|\nabla \varphi|^4}{|\varphi|^4} |\varphi u|^2 \, dx \\ &\leq C \int_{|x|<2R} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx + (1+\varepsilon) \int_{|x|\ge 2R} \frac{|\nabla (\varphi u)|^2}{|x|^2} + \left(1+\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^4} \, dx. \end{split}$$

Using (10.1) again, we get

$$I_{3} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u\Delta\varphi|^{2} dx \leq \int_{|x|<2R} |u|^{2} |\Delta\varphi|^{2} dx + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |u|^{2} |\Delta\varphi|^{2} dx$$
$$\leq C \int_{|x|<2R} |u|^{2} dx + \lambda_{2}^{2} \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^{2}}{|x|^{2}} dx.$$

Next we estimate I_4 . Given $\varepsilon > 0$, Young's inequality leads to

$$\begin{split} I_4 &= 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \Delta \varphi \nabla \varphi \nabla u \, dx \leq 4 \int_{|x| \geq 2R} |u \Delta \varphi| |\nabla \varphi \nabla u| \, dx \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \int_{|x| \geq 2R} |\nabla \varphi \nabla u|^2 \, dx + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \int_{|x| \geq 2R} |u \Delta \varphi|^2 \, dx = \frac{\varepsilon I_2}{2} + \frac{2I_3}{\varepsilon} \\ &\leq C_{\varepsilon} \int_{|x| < 2R} |\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2 \, dx + 2(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^2) \int_{|x| \geq 2R} \frac{|\nabla (\varphi u)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \\ &+ 2 \left(1 + \varepsilon\right) \int_{|x| \geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^4} \, dx + \frac{2\lambda_2^2}{\varepsilon} \int_{|x| \geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx. \end{split}$$

We finally consider I_5 . For $|x| \ge 2R$, we have

$$\Delta u = \frac{\Delta(u\varphi)}{\varphi} - 2\frac{\nabla u\nabla\varphi}{\varphi} + \frac{u\Delta\varphi}{\varphi}.$$

This implies

$$\begin{split} \frac{I_5}{2} &\leq \int_{|x|<2R} |u\Delta u| |\nabla \varphi|^2 \, dx + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |u\Delta u| |\nabla \varphi|^2 \, dx \\ &\leq C \int_{|x|<2R} |u\Delta u| \, dx + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |\Delta (u\varphi)| \frac{|u| |\nabla \varphi|^2}{|\varphi|} \, dx \\ &+ 2 \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |\nabla u\nabla \varphi| \frac{|u| |\nabla \varphi|^2}{|\varphi|} \, dx + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |u|^2 \frac{|\nabla \varphi|^2 |\Delta \varphi|}{|\varphi|} \, dx \\ &:= C \int_{|x|<2R} |u\Delta u| \, dx + \sum_{i=1}^3 J_i. \end{split}$$

By Young's inequality, we have

$$J_1 \leq \frac{\tau}{2} \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |\Delta(u\varphi)|^2 dx + \frac{1}{2\tau} \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |u|^2 \frac{|\nabla\varphi|^4}{|\varphi|^2} dx$$
$$\leq \frac{\tau}{2} \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |\Delta(u\varphi)|^2 dx + \frac{1}{2\tau} \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^4} dx,$$

where $\tau > 0$. We also get

$$J_{2} \leq \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |\nabla u \nabla \varphi|^{2} dx + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|u|^{2} |\nabla \varphi|^{4}}{|\varphi|^{2}} dx \leq \frac{I_{2}}{4} + \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^{2}}{|x|^{4}} dx$$
$$\leq C \int_{|x|<2R} |\nabla u|^{2} dx + \left(2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^{2}}{|x|^{4}} dx$$
$$+ (1+\varepsilon) \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\nabla (\varphi u)|^{2}}{|x|^{2}} dx$$

and

$$J_3 = \int_{|x| \ge 2R} |u|^2 \frac{|\Delta \varphi| |\nabla \varphi|^2}{|\varphi|} \, dx \le \lambda_2 \int_{|x| \ge 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^3} \, dx.$$

Pulgging these estimates for the J_i 's, we obtain

$$\begin{split} I_5 &\leq C \int_{|x|<2R} |u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 \, dx + (2+2\varepsilon) \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\nabla(\varphi u)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \\ &+ 2\lambda_2 \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^3} \, dx + \left(4 + \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{2}{\varepsilon}\right) \int_{|x|\geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^4} \, dx \\ &+ \tau \int_{|x|\geq 2R} |\Delta(u\varphi)|^2 \, dx. \end{split}$$

At last, combining the above estimates for the $I_i\space{'s}$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=1}^{5} I_i \leq C(R) + \left(6 + 8\varepsilon + 2\varepsilon^2\right) \int_{|x| \geq 2R} \frac{|\nabla(\varphi u)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx + 2\lambda_2 \int_{|x| \geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^3} \, dx \\ &+ \left(10 + \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{6}{\varepsilon} + 2\varepsilon\right) \int_{|x| \geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^4} \, dx + \left(1 + \lambda_2^2 + \frac{2\lambda_2^2}{\varepsilon}\right) \int_{|x| \geq 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \\ &+ \tau \int_{|x| \geq 2R} |\Delta(u\varphi)|^2 \, dx. \end{split}$$

Recalling Hardy's inequalities

(10.6)
$$\begin{aligned} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla v|^2 \, dx &\geq \left(\frac{N-2}{2}\right)^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{|v|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx, \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta v|^2 \, dx &\geq \frac{N^2}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{|\nabla v|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx, \end{aligned}$$

we deduce from (10.5) and (10.6) that

$$\begin{aligned} (1-\delta(R))\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta(\varphi u)|^2 + |\nabla(\varphi u)|^2 \, dx &\leq C(R) + \left(\frac{4}{N^2}\left(6+8\varepsilon+2\varepsilon^2\right)+\tau\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta(\varphi u)|^2 \, dx \\ &+ \left(\frac{2}{N-2}\right)^2 \left(\frac{1}{4R^2}\left(10+\frac{1}{\tau}+\frac{6}{\varepsilon}+2\varepsilon\right) + \left(1+\lambda_2^2+\frac{2\lambda_2^2}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{\lambda_2}{R}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla(\varphi u)|^2 \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Since $N \ge 5$ and since $\delta(R) \to 0$ as $R \to \infty$, we can choose $\varepsilon, \tau > 0$ small enough, and R > 0 large enough so that

$$\left(\frac{4}{N^2}\left(6+8\varepsilon+2\varepsilon^2\right)+\tau\right)<1-\delta,$$

and

$$\left(\frac{2}{N-2}\right)^2 \left(\frac{1}{4R^2} \left(10 + \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{6}{\varepsilon} + 2\varepsilon\right) + \left(1 + \lambda_2^2 + \frac{2\lambda_2^2}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{\lambda_2}{R}\right) < 1 - \delta.$$

We just show that there exists a constant C > 0 depending on R only such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla(\varphi u)|^2 \, dx \le C.$$

It now follows from (10.6) that

$$\int_{|x|\ge 2R} \frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \le C$$

uniformly with respect to R_1 . Finally, we take $R_1 \to \infty$ and we observe that

$$\frac{|\varphi u|^2}{|x|^2} \to u^2 \quad \text{ a.e for } \quad |x| \geq 2R.$$

Fatou's Lemma then implies that $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_{2R}(0))$ so that $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

References

- [1] N. Ackermann, T. Weth: Unstable normalized standing waves for the space periodic NLS, arXiv:1706.06950. 4
- [2] P. Alsholm, G. Schmidt: Spectral and scattering theory for Schrödinger operators, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 40 1970/1971 281-311.
- [3] A. Ambrosetti, A. Malchiodi: Nonlinear analysis and semilinear elliptic problems, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007. 21
- [4] T. Bartsch, S. De Valeriola: Normalized solutions of nonlinear Schrödinger equations, Arch. Math. 100 (2013) 75-83.
 4
- [5] T. Bartsch, L. Jeanjean: Normalized solutions for nonlinear Schrödinger systems, to appear in Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh A 148(2) (2018) 225-242.
- [6] T. Bartsch, L. Jeanjean, N. Soave: Normalized solutions for a system of coupled cubic Schrödinger equations on ℝ³, J. Math. Pures. Appl. 106(4) (2016) 583-614.
- T. Bartsch, N. Soave: A natural constraint approach to normalized solutions of nonlinear Schrödinger equations and systems, J. Funct. Anal. 272(12) (2017) 4998-5037.
- [8] T. Bartsch, N. Soave: Correction to: "A natural constraint approach to normalized solutions of nonlinear Schrödinger equations and systems", J. Funct. Anal. 275(2) (2018) 516-521. 12
- T. Bartsch, N. Soave: Multiple normalized solutions for a competing system of Schrödinger equations, arXiv:1703.02832. 4, 11, 12, 21
- [10] G. Baruch, G. Fibich: Singular solutions of the L²-supercritical biharmonic nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Nonlinearity 24 (6) (2011) 1843-1859. 2
- [11] G. Baruch, G. Fibich, E. Mandelbaum: Ring-type singular solutions of the biharmonic nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Nonlinearity 23 (11) (2010) 2867-2887.
- [12] G. Baruch, G. Fibich, E. Mandelbaum: Singular solutions of the biharmonic nonlinear Schrödinger equation, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 70 (8) (2010) 3319-3341.
- [13] J. Bellazzini, R. L. Frank, N. Visciglia: Maximizers for Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequalities and related non-local problems, Math Ann. 360 (3-4) (2014) 653-673. 9
- [14] J. Bellazzini, L. Jeanjean: On dipolar quantum gases in the unstable regime, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 48(3) (2016) 2028-2058. 4
- [15] J. Bellazzini, L. Jeanjean, T. Luo: Existence and instability of standing waves with prescribed norm for a class of Schrödinger-Poisson equations, Proc. London Math. Soc. 107 (2013) 303-339. 4, 15, 16, 17
- [16] M. Ben-Artzi, H. Koch, J.-C Saut: Dispersion estimates for fourth order Schrödinger equations, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 330(2) (2000) 87-92. 2
- [17] H. Berestycki, P.-L. Lions: Nonlinear scalar field equations. I. Existence of a ground state, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 82(4) (1983) 313-345. 19
- [18] H. Berestycki, P.-L. Lions: Nonlinear scalar field equations. II. Existence of a ground state, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 82(4) (1983) 347-375. 13
- [19] D. Bonheure, J.-B. Casteras, T. Gou, L. Jeanjean: Strong instability of ground states to a fourth order Schrödinger equation, to appear in IMRN, doi:10.1093/imrn/rnx273 (arXiv:1703.07977). 2, 6, 30
- [20] D. Bonheure, J.-B. Casteras, R. Mandel: On a fourth order nonlinear Helmholtz equation, To appear in J. Lond. Math. Soc. 24
- [21] D. Bonheure, J.-B. Casteras, E. Moreira Dos Santos, R. Nascimento: Orbitally stable standing waves of a mixed dispersion nonlinear Schrödinger equation, to appear in SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis. 2, 3, 5, 6, 22, 26
- [22] D. Bonheure, E. Moreira dos Santos, M. Ramos: Ground state and non ground state solutions of some strongly coupled elliptic systems, Trans. Amer. math. Soc., 364(1) (2012) 447-491. 19
- [23] D. Bonheure, R. Nascimento: Waveguide solutions for a nonlinear Schrödinger equation with mixed dispersion, Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. 87 (2015) 31-53. 2, 19
- [24] T. Boulenger, E. Lenzmann: Blowup for Biharmonic NLS, Ann. Sci. Ec. Norm. Supér., (4) 50(3) (2017) 503-544. 2, 6, 9, 26, 28, 30
- [25] J. Busca, B. Sirakov: Symmetry results for semilinear elliptic systems in the whole space, J. Differential Equations, 163(1) (2000) 41-56. 27
- [26] I. Catto, J. Dolbeault, O. Sanchez, J. Soler: Existence of steady states for the Maxwell-Schrödinger-Poisson system: exploring the applicability of the concentration-compactness principle, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 23 (10) (2013), 1915-1938. 3
- [27] T. Cazenave: Semilinear Schrödinger equations, Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 10. New York University, Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York; American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003. xiv+323 pp. 1, 2

- [28] M. Colin, L. Jeanjean, M. Squassina: Stability and instability results for standing waves of quasi-linear Schrödinger equations, Nonlinearity 23 (2010) 1353-1385. 3
- [29] G. Evequoz, T. Weth: Dual variational methods and nonvanishing for the nonlinear Helmholtz equation, Adv. Math. 280 (2015), 690-728. 22
- [30] G. Fibich, B. Ilan, G. Papanicolaou: Self-focusing with fourth-order dispersion, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 62 (2002) 1437-1462. 2, 6
- [31] N. Ghoussoub: Duality and perturbation methods in critical point theory, volume 107 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1993. 11, 12, 20, 21
- [32] C. Gui, X. Lue, F. Zhou: Asymptotic behavior of oscillating radial solutions to certain nonlinear equations, Part II Methods Appl. Anal. 16 (2009), no. 4, 459-468. 24
- [33] L. Jeanjean: Existence of solutions with prescribed norm for semilinear elliptic equations, Nonlinear Analysis 28 (1997) 1633-1659. 4
- [34] L. Jeanjean, T. Luo: Sharp nonexistence results of prescribed L²-norm solutions for some class of Schrödinger-Poisson and quasi-linear equations, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 64 (2013) 937-954. 3
- [35] V.I. Karpman: Stabilization of soliton instabilities by higher-order dispersion: fourth order nonlinear Schrödingertype equations, Phys. Rev. E 53 (1996) 1336-1339. 2
- [36] V.I. Karpman, A.G. Shagalov: Stability of solitons described by nonlinear Schrödinger-type equations with higherorder dispersion, Phys. D 144 (2000) 194-210. 2
- [37] P-L. Lions: The concentration-compactness principle in the Calculus of Variations. The locally compact case, Part 2, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 2 (1984) 223-283. 13, 25
- [38] R. Mandel, E. Montefusco, B. Pellacci: Oscillating solutions for nonlinear Helmholtz equations, arXiv:1702.03727 24
- [39] V. Moroz, J. Van Schaftingen: Nonexistence and optimal decay of supersolutions to Choquard equations in exterior domains, J. Differential Equations 254 (2013), no. 8, 3089-3145. 19, 23
- [40] F. Natali, A. Pastor: The fourth-order dispersive nonlinear Schrödinger equation: orbital stability of a standing wave, SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst. 14 (3) (2015) 1326-1347. 2, 6
- [41] L. Nirenberg: On elliptic partial differential equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3), 13:115-162, 1959. 3, 6
- [42] B. Noris, H. Tavares, G. Verzini: Existence and orbital stability of the ground states with prescribed mass for the L² critical and supercritical NLS on bounded domains, Anal. PDE 7(8)(2014) 1807-1838. 4
- [43] B. Noris, H. Tavares, G. Verzini: Stable solitary waves with prescribed L²-mass for the cubic Schrödinger system with trapping potentials, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.-A 35 (2015) 6085-6112. 4
- [44] B. Pausader: Global well-posedness for energy critical fourth-order Schrödinger equations in the radial case, Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ. 4(3)(2007) 197-225. 1, 2, 6, 27, 28
- [45] B. Pausader, S. Shao: The mass-critical fourth-order Schrödinger equation in high dimensions, J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 7(4) (2000) 651-705. 2
- [46] B. Pausader, S. Xia: Scattering theory for the fourth-order Schrödinger equation in low dimensions, Nonlinearity 26(8) (2013) 2175-2191. 2
- [47] D. Pierotti, G. Verzini: Normalized bound states for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation in bounded domains, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 56 (5) (2017), Art. 133, 27 pp. 4
- [48] B. Sirakov: Some estimates and maximum principles for weakly coupled systems of elliptic PDE, Nonlinear Anal. 70 (2009), no. 8, 3039-3046. 23
- [49] E. Stein: Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions, Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30 (1970).
 22
- [50] M. I. Weinstein: Nonlinear Schrödinger Equations and Sharp Interpolation Estimates, Commun. Math. Phys. 87 (1983) 67-576. 2

DENIS BONHEURE, JEAN-BAPTISTE CASTERAS

DÉPARTEMENT DE MATHÉMATIQUES, UNIVERSITÉ LIBRE DE BRUXELLES, CP 214, BOULEVARD DU TRIOMPHE, B-1050 BRUXELLES, BELGIUM Email address: Denis.Bonheure@ulb.ac.be Email address: jeanbaptiste.casteras@gmail.com

TIANXIANG GOU

Laboratoire de Mathématiques (UMR 6623), Université Bourgogne Franche-Comté, 16, Route de Gray 25030 Besançon Cedex, France. School of Mathematics and Statistics,

LANZHOU UNIVERSITY, LANZHOU, GANSU 730000, PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF CHINA.

 $Email \ address: \verb"gou.tianxiang@gmail.com"$

Louis Jeanjean

LABORATOIRE DE MATHÉMATIQUES (UMR 6623), UNIVERSITÉ BOURGOGNE FRANCHE-COMTÉ, 16, ROUTE DE GRAY 25030 BESANÇON CEDEX, FRANCE. *Email address*: louis.jeanjean@univ-fcomte.fr